Stony Brook University



OFFICIAL COPY

The official electronic file of this thesis or dissertation is maintained by the University Libraries on behalf of The Graduate School at Stony Brook University.

© All Rights Reserved by Author.

Front-End Read-Out System for Radiation Scintillation Detector

A Dissertation Presented

by

Xiao Yun

to

The Graduate School in Partial fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Electrical Engineering

Stony Brook University

August 2010

Stony Brook University

The Graduate School

Xiao Yun

We, the dissertation committee for the above candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy degree, hereby recommend acceptance of this dissertation

Prof. Milutin Stanacevic - Dissertation Advisor Assistant Professor, Electrical and Computer Engineering

Prof. Ridha Kamoua - Chairperson of Defense Associate Professor, Electrical and Computer Engineering

Prof. Sangjin Hong Associate Professor, Electrical and Computer Engineering

Prof. Gianluigi De Geronimo Adjunct Professor, Electrical and Computer Engineering

Prof. Pelagia I. Gouma Associate Professor, Materials Science and Engineering

This dissertation is accepted by the Graduate School

Lawrence Martin Dean of the Graduate School

Abstract of the Dissertation

Front-End Read-Out System for Radiation Scintillation Detector

by

Xiao Yun

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Electrical Engineering

Stony Brook University

2010

Detection of various nuclear radiation sources is increasingly important for security issues. A novel three-dimensional (3D) integration of scintillation-type semiconductor radiation detector pixels has been proposed. This dissertation presents a design methodology of a low-power low-noise integrated front-end readout solution suitable for the proposed detector.

The low-power low-noise front-end readout system contains a charge sensitive amplifier (CSA), a analog signal processing unit and an analog-to-digital converter (ADC). The CSA isolates big parasitic capacitor of the detector, and allows the electrons generated from detector to integrate on a smaller capacitor. The signal processing unit contains a high order semi-Gaussian pulse shaping filter and a peak detector. The shaping filter filters the output signal from CSA and maximizes the signal to noise ratio. The peak detector captures the peak amplitude from shaping filter, which is proportional to the number of input electrons. Noise model of the readout system is constructed, and several noise optimization techniques are discussed to minimize the equivalent noise charge (ENC).

The analog-to-digital converter required in the readout system needs to be low power, high absolute accuracy and tones-free. Extended counting analog-to-digital converter combines the accuracy of delta-sigma modulation and the speed of algorithmic conversion. This conversion architecture is shown to be useful in applications with multiple sensory channels, where both resolution and speed are demanded. A design of a 13 bit extended counting ADC is presented.

This dissertation provides detail discussion on design and simulation of each building block, comparison between different architectures, and experimental results of prototype ASICs, which are implemented through 0.5um CMOS process.

Contents

Li	st of l	igures v	iii
Li	st of]	fables	xi
Ι	Int	roduction	1
1	Intr	oduction	2
	1.1	Integrated Sensory Microsystems	2
	1.2	Radiation Detection	3
	1.3	Radiation Detector	4
	1.4	Organization	6
Π	Aı	nalog Section	9
2	Syst	em Overview	10
	2.1	Problem Forming	10
	2.2	Proposed System	12
		2.2.1 Signal Path	12
		2.2.2 Noise Path	14
	2.3	Equivalent Noise Charge	15
	2.4	Conclusion	16
3	Cha	rge Sensitive Amplifier	17
	3.1	Circuit Overview	18
		3.1.1 Amplifier	19
		3.1.2 Reset Network	20
	3.2	Noise Analysis	22

		3.2.1	Strong inversion	. 23
		3.2.2	Weak Inversion	. 26
		3.2.3	Comparison and discussion	. 30
	3.3	Design	and Simulation	. 32
		3.3.1	Noise contributions from other transistors	. 32
		3.3.2	Stability analysis	. 34
		3.3.3	Cascade CSA stages	. 36
		3.3.4	Simulation	. 36
	3.4	Current	t-mode preamplifier	. 37
		3.4.1	Small Signal Analysis	. 40
		3.4.2	Noise Analysis	. 40
		3.4.3	Design and Simulation	. 42
		3.4.4	Measurement Result	. 45
	3.5	Conclu	sion	. 47
4	Ana	log Sign	al Processing	48
	4.1	Semi-C	Jaussian Pulse Shaping Filter	. 48
		4.1.1	Optimum number of shaper order	. 50
		4.1.2	Design of Shaper with large time constant	. 50
		4.1.3	Simulation	. 52
	4.2	Adaptiv	ve shaping filter	. 54
	4.3	Peak D		. 61
	4.4	Conclu	sion	. 64
5	Imp	lemente	d ASIC	66
	5.1	Implem	nented ASIC	. 66
	5.2	Test set	tup	. 71
	5.3	Measur	rement results	. 73
	5.4	Conclu	sion	. 76
TT	τл	nəlog.	to-Digital Conversion	77
11.		nalog-	to-Digital Conversion	,,
6	Ana	log-to-D	Digital Conversion	78
	6.1	Extend	ed Counting Analog-to-Digital Conversion	. 79
		6.1.1	Design of operational amplifier	. 82
		6.1.2	Design of Switches	. 86
		6.1.3	Design of Comparator	. 86
	6.2	Optimi	zation Techniques	. 88
		6.2.1	Optimizing the Number of ADC	. 88

	6.2.2	Different Settling Behaviors in Two Stages
6.3	Impler	mented ASIC
	6.3.1	Chip layout
	6.3.2	Test setup
	6.3.3	Measurement results
6.4	Conclu	usion

IV Conclusions

7	Conclusions							
	7.1 7.2	Future plans						
Bibliography								

List of Figures

1.1	Current portal monitors	4
1.2	Semiconductor scintillator comprising a scintillator body and an in-	
	tegrated photodiode (top plate) on its surface.	6
1.3	3D pixellation of scintillator	7
1.4	Diagram of compton telescope	8
2.1	Proposed Readout System Block Diagram	13
2.2	Simplified noise model for detector system	15
3.1	Charge Sensitive Amplifier (CSA)	18
3.2	Two implementations of amplifier	19
3.3	Adaptive reset network	21
3.4	Optimized ENC with different biasing currents at weak inversion	28
3.5	Optimized ENC with different capacitive ratio at weak inversion	29
3.6	Optimized ENC with different time constant	30
3.7	Optimized ENC as a function of biasing current under strong and	
	weak inversion.	31
3.8	Schematic of implemented CSA	33
3.9	Open circuit schematic after breaking the loop	34
3.10	Pole zero location of CSA	35
3.11	Simulation of CSA with different compensation capacitors	36
3.12	Cascading two CSAs as input stage	37
3.13	Simulation of cascade CSAs with 10K input electrons	38
3.14	Current-mode preamplifier implementations	39
3.15	Noise models of CG and RGC	41
3.16	Schematic with added current mirror	43
3.17	Current buffer simulated transient response	44
3.18	Custom designed test station	46
3.19	Measurement of current buffer	46

4.1	Pulse shaper for different noise components	49
4.2	ENC versus order of shaper	51
4.3	Schematic of single RC cell	51
4.4	Schematic of ICON cell	52
4.5	Schematic of 2nd order shaping filter	52
4.6	Simulation of pulse shaping filter	53
4.7	Linearity plot of designed pulse shaper	53
4.8	ENC versus time constant	54
4.9	ENC versus different specs	55
4.10	Block diagram of proposed system for adaptive filtering	55
4.11	Continuous-time Gm-C filter implementation of shaper	56
4.12	Frequency response of the designed pulse shaper for variation of	
	biasing voltage of OTA	57
4.13	Block diagram of adaptive noise processing	57
4.14	Simulation of adaptive noise processing	59
4.15	Recorded radiation signal	59
4.16	Block diagram of adaptive spike detector with absolute value algo-	
	rithm	60
4.17	Schematic of the adaptive spike detector using absolute value. Adap-	
	tive threshold set scheme was from [69], [70]	61
4.18	Simplified version of pulse shaper	62
4.19	Schematic of two phase peak detector	63
4.20	Simplified schematic of peak detector in two phases	63
4.21	Schematic of OTA	64
4.22	Simulation result of peak detector	65
4.23	Linearity plot of designed peak detector	65
7 1		
5.1	Micro-photo of implemented ASIC	6/
5.2		68
5.3	Layout of pulse shaper	69
5.4	Layout of peak detector	70
5.5	Photo of the interface test board	72
5.6	Setup to test ASIC with sensor	73
5.7	Output of CSA for different input signals	74
5.8	Measured output voltage of CSA as a function of input charge	74
5.9	Output of pulse shaper for different input signals	75
5.10	Experiment result with americium source.	75
61	Block diagram of extended counting Δ/D conversion	80
6.2	Counting stage	Q1
0.2		01

6.3	Extended counting stage	82
6.4	Designed schematic of ECADC	83
6.5	Clock scheme of one conversion	83
6.6	Behavior simulation to determine gain requirement of OPAMP	84
6.7	Behavior simulation of the targeted OPAMP gain	84
6.8	Schematic of designed OPAMP	85
6.9	Schematic of designed preamplifier for comparator	87
6.10	Schematic of designed latch for comparator	87
6.11	Current consumption versus clock frequency	89
6.12	Typical circuit scheme in ECADC and its equivalent small signal	
	model	91
6.13	Different settling behaviors	91
6.14	Power reduction versus number of bits	93
6.15	Micro-photo of implemented ASIC	94
6.16	Layout of ADC	96
6.17	Photo of the interface test board	97
6.18	Measured INL of designed ADC	98

List of Tables

3.1	Transistor sizes and capacitor values of designed CSA	37
3.2	Transistor sizes of current buffer and their noise contribution	44
6.1	Summary of designed ADC	93

Part I

Introduction

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Integrated Sensory Microsystems

Design of integrated microsystems and system-on-a-chip solutions combined with advances in MEMS technology leads to significant miniaturization of sensor devices. Such microsystems have a significant and pervasive impact on a large number of applications, including radiation detection [1, 2, 3].

While not every application shares the same requirements, a common system framework can be shared and it provides a basis for defining the design procedures to be followed for development of these systems. The realization of such microsystems requires them to be small, portable, low-power, highly accurate sensing modules capable of bidirectional communication. These solutions should also allow for the integration of the sensors and the electronic interface on the same substrate. Another important constraint posed on these systems would require them to have the ability to perform in distributed instrumentation systems collecting data over a broad physical area leading to multichannel design that would interface distributed sensor arrays. The result of this combination is a smart sensor array. The interface and processing circuitry has to be placed close to the sensor array for integration and needs to provide sufficient signal processing to extract a limited number of essential features to reduce signal bandwidth before further transmission of information. The limited available power makes a single-chip solution inevitable and its design a challenging task. This solution significantly reduces the size and increases the reliability of complete system. Adaptive solutions have to be incorporated in the system to compensate all the limitations of the interface, such as parasitic effects, low sensitivity and nonlinearities [4].

This work presents an example of such microsystems using common design principles and architectures in radiation detection application.

1.2 Radiation Detection

Lately, nuclear threat has been an increasingly important security issues. The detection of nuclear radiation is important part of prevention of terrorist threats. There is great need to develop, deploy and enhance nuclear and radiological detection capabilities to prevent illicit use of nuclear devices or materials. Great efforts have been made to enhance the effective integration of nuclear and radiological detection capabilities. Figure 1.1 shows a current monitor portal installed at a highway entry port.

However, current portal monitors susceptible to false alarms caused by legitimate radioactive materials, e.g. Bananas, kitty litter, medical isotopes, ceramic tiles, fertilizer. False alarms create undesirable operational burdens on customs and border personnel and costly delays in commercial flow of goods. Therefore, an innovative radiation detector with high sensitivity is required. Plus, handheld or backpack identifier is also in demand to allow flexible and convenient detection. Power and weigh need to be reduced to allow such features to be included.



Figure 1.1: Current portal monitors

Radiation detection techniques for threat reduction application can also transform to other programs of research and development in detection technologies. The radiation of interest may include charged particles (e.g., fast electrons and heavy charged particles), and uncharged particles (e.g., neutrons, X- and gamma-rays). In all cases, the radiation energy must be high enough to cause ionization in the sensing material. The resulting free charges can be single polarity ones, like electrons (e.g., gas sensors), or of dual polarity like electron-hole pairs (e.g., semiconductor sensors).

1.3 Radiation Detector

There are two large groups of solid-state radiation detectors, which dominate the area of ionizing radiation measurements, scintillation detectors and semiconductor diodes [1]. Semiconductor diodes employ reverse biased junctions where the absorbed radiation creates electrons and holes. The scintillators detect highenergy radiation through generation of light which is subsequently registered by a photo-detector that converts light into an electrical signal. The first type of detector suffers from high voltages and low speed. The second type of detector, though having advantage of low cost and large detection volume, traditionally suffers from low efficiency of converting the high-energy radiation into light, thus low resolution.

Fundamental reason for poor resolution in dielectric scintillators is that the luminescent yield is controlled by reactions that are nonlinear in the density of generated electron-hole pairs, leading to non-proportionality response in radiation events. A new monolithic scintillation-type multilayer detector, in which high-energy radiation produces electron-hole pairs in a direct-gap semiconductor material that subsequently recombine producing infrared light to be registered by photo-detectors located on the surface of each semiconductor layer, is proposed.

The key issue in implementing a semiconductor scintillator is how to make the material transmit its own infrared luminescence [5]. The first attempt is to use Burstein shift technique to improves efficiency of radiation to infrared light. However, semiconductor materials based on extremely high radiative efficiency of high-quality direct-gap, such as InP, prove to be an excellent candidate for radiation detection. Figure 1.2 shows the proposed semiconductor scintillator with a InP scintillator body and an integrated photodiode on its surface.

Another innovative feature of the proposed detector is that it enables monolithic three-dimensional (3D) integration of standard semiconductor wafers, each provided with a pixellated epitaxial photosensitive layer on its surface as well as amplifying and analog-to-digital electronic circuits. The 3D pixellation of the scintillator response enables a novel scheme for high-resolution angular discrimination using compton telescope technique [6, 7, 8, 9]. Therefore, direction of the radiation source can be determined simultaneously. Figure 1.3 shows the 3D scheme of the



Figure 1.2: Semiconductor scintillator comprising a scintillator body and an integrated photodiode (top plate) on its surface.

proposed system. Figure 1.4 displays the mechanism of compton telescope. The diagram illustrates the track of a gamma photon of diminishing energy upon several successive compton interactions producing a cluster of firing voxels.

The proposed low-power high-resolution detector makes it amenable to applications where the power source is a microbattery. Its ability to integrate large volume under conventional, fully matured CMOS process makes it low-cost and reliable. In addition, the sensor probes can be fabricated on the same substrate as the frontend read-out circuitry and interfaced create fully integrated stand-alone portable detection device capable of sensing, processing and transmitting radiation signals.

1.4 Organization

The remainder of the proposal describes the theory, design procedures and implementation in detail. Part II Analog Section describes design of the analog section of a front-end readout system, which includes charge sensitive amplifier (CSA), shaper and peak detector. Chapter 2 first presents a general problem forming and



Figure 1.3: 3D pixellation of scintillator

system overview. Chapter 3 presents design and optimization theories of CSA. Chapter 4 presents the theory and design of a analog signal processing unit, including a semi-Gaussian pulse shaper and a peak detector. Chapter 5 describes the implemented ASIC under 0.5um CMOS process. Part III Analog-to-Digital Conversion describes the proposed extended counting ADC for multi-channel readout system. Chapter 6 describes the design and implementation of a 13 bit extended counting analog-to-digital converter. Part IV Conclusions summarizes the dissertation.



Figure 1.4: Diagram of compton telescope.

Part II

Analog Section

Chapter 2

System Overview

This chapter introduces the problem of reading out signal produced by radiation detector. An integrated front-end readout solution is provided, with brief descriptions of each building blocks. Concept of equivalent noise charge (ENC) is introduced.

2.1 **Problem Forming**

The proposed three-dimensional (3D) integration of scintillation-type semiconductor detector pixels provides accurate spectroscopic resolution for isotope discrimination and an accurate determination of the direction to source at the same time. In this novel scintillation-type semiconductor detector, high energy radiation produces electron-hole pairs in a direct-gap semiconductor material that subsequently undergo interband recombination, producing infrared light to be registered by a photo-detector.

To measure the optical response of pixelized detector, an application specific integrated circuit has to be designed. The integrated circuit should also be pixilated,

where each of the active pixels would sense the weak and short analog pulse as electrical signal produced by the photo-detector and convert it to digital signal. The digital value should be proportional to the charge produced by the detector and it should be communicated to the digital processing unit, as well as the coordinates of the pixel in which the activity occurred.

The detector can be modeled as a capacitor in parallel with a current source. The current source represents the signal generated by the detector, and it is a small current AC pulse, which has a time period in the nano-second range, on top of a constant DC leakage current. The magnitude of the AC current pulse is determined by number of electrons produced by the detector, which is normally a few thousand or hundreds of thousand, depending on the specific detector and the radiation sources. The constant DC detector leakage current for most radiation detector is measured to be between 10 pA and 100 nA. The capacitor represents the parasitic capacitance to ground of the detector, which imposes the most stringent constraint in the design. The value of parasitic capacitance, for the pixel size of 1mm by 1mm is estimated to be 50 pF. Another important design parameter would be the rate at which the pulse is likely to appear at the same pixel and based on the physical considerations, we expect to have a time of 100 ms between two consecutive pulses.

The main function of a front-end readout system is to capture the AC current pulses, and convert it to a voltage signal that represents the number of electrons produced by the detector in case of a event. The voltage signal is then digitized for further processing. The AC current pulses should be isolated from the DC constant leakage current and integrated on a smaller capacitor. Because 100 K electrons integrating on a 50 pF capacitor produces only 320 uV, while 100 nA current integrating on a 50 pF capacitor for a time period of 1 mS produces 2 V. The large parasitic capacitance gives uniqueness to the specifications imposed on the sensing

circuitry and requires development of novel circuit techniques to relax the effect of input parasitic capacitance. The readout system should also be able to self-reset after processing each event for continuous automatic read out. The processing time should be kept within one tenth of the estimated time interval between consecutive pulses to avoid signal pile-up.

2.2 Proposed System

The proposed read out system is shown in figure 2.1. Charge sensitive amplifier (CSA) isolates the big input parasitic capacitance, allows most of the electrons produced by detector to integrate on a smaller capacitor C_f in the feedback loop. The second stage is a analog signal processing unit, which includes a pulse shaper and a peak detector. The unit performs signal conditioning, noise optimization and preprocessing before analog-to-digital conversion. Many studies have been conducted on the pulse shaping filter in terms of signal to noise ratio, and have been concluded that a semi-Gaussian shaper generally give the best noise performance [42]-[47]. The output of the shaper is a semi-Gaussian shape pulse with its peak amplitude proportional to input charge Q. The peak of the pulse is captured by the subsequent peak detector. Finally, the analog-to-digital converter converts analog signal information to digital domain before further processing.

2.2.1 Signal Path

The input signal due to one electron charge generated from the detector can be modeled as a Dirac current pulse, whose integral is around q, charge of one electron. The output signal of CSA can be shown as an exponential rise voltage step, with a steady state amplitude of q/C_f . The rise time constant is inversely proportional



Figure 2.1: Proposed Readout System Block Diagram

to the gain bandwidth of the amplifier and proportional to the detector capacitance. However, it is usually made of only a couple of nanoseconds. Thus, it is reasonable to assume the output of CSA is an ideal voltage step with an amplitude of q/C_f .

The transfer function of a n-th order semi-Gaussian pulse shaper can be expressed as:

$$H(s) = \left[\frac{s\tau}{1+s\tau}\right] \left[\frac{1}{1+s\tau}\right]^n$$
(2.1)

where the pulse shaper consists of one differentiator and n integrators, both with the same time constant τ . The output of signal of the pulse shaper is calculated as:

$$V_{out,CSA}(s) = \frac{q}{sC_f}$$

$$V_{out}(s) = V_{out,CSA} \cdot H(s)$$

$$V_{out}(t) = \frac{qn^n}{C_f n!} (\frac{t}{n\tau})^n e^{-t/\tau}$$
(2.2)

Equation 2.2 is a semi-Gaussian alike pulse and has a peak at time $n\tau$. The peak amplitude is derived as:

$$V_{out,max} = \frac{qn^n}{C_f n! e^n} \tag{2.3}$$

Thus, the peak amplitude of the output signal is proportional with the generated charge. By measuring the peak value of output signal, the amount of electrons that are generated from detector can be determined.

2.2.2 Noise Path

From the noise point of view, the charge pulse from photodiode first passes low-noise amplification stage that is designed to contribute a minimal amount of intrinsic circuitry noise. The contribution of noise from the further processing stages is in that way significantly reduced since, when referenced to the input, it will be divided by the gain of preamplifier. After the pre-amplification of the signal, a filtering or pulse-shaping is performed for boosting the signal-to-noise ratio. The pulse-shaping processing block utilizes the fact that the noise in this case is broad-band signal, while the signal is narrow-band. If the filtering would match the spectral density of the signal, maximum signal-to-noise ratio could be achieved and at the same time minimal sensitivity.

The dominant noise sources of a detector readout system are shown in figure 2.2. V_n is the total input referred noise of CSA, which contains thermal noise and 1/f flicker noise components. I_n is the shot noise from detector leakage current. The noise contributions from the following stages are relatively small because of the gain of CSA, and are ignored. V_n and I_n can be expressed as:

The total noise power at the output of CSA is then calculated as:

$$V_{n,out}(s)^2 = \left(\frac{C_{in} + C_f}{C_f}\right)^2 V_n^2 + \left(\frac{1}{sC_f}\right)^2 I_n^2$$
(2.4)

where C_{in} is the capacitance seen at the input of CSA and is composed with the parasitic capacitance of detector and the input capacitance of CSA.

The total noise power spectrum at the output of pulse shaper is then calculated



Figure 2.2: Simplified noise model for detector system

as:

$$V_{n,tot}^2 = \int_0^\infty |V_{n,out}(j2\pi f)|^2 |H(j2\pi f)|^2 df$$
(2.5)

where H(s) is the transfer function of pulse shaper.

2.3 Equivalent Noise Charge

The measure of sensitivity of the front-end readout system is normally characterized as equivalent noise charge (ENC). The ENC is defined as the ratio of the total integrated rms noise at the output of the pulse shaper to the signal amplitude due to one electron charge q [13]. ENC can be calculated by dividing equation 2.5 and 2.3. It is summarized as following:

$$ENC_{ws}^{2} = a_{ws} \frac{\gamma}{g_{m}} (C_{p} + C_{g})^{2} \frac{1}{\tau}$$
(2.6)

$$ENC_{wp}^2 = a_{wp}I_{det}\tau\tag{2.7}$$

$$ENC_{1/f}^2 = a_f K_F (C_p + C_g)^2$$
(2.8)

where ENC_{ws} , ENC_{wp} and $ENC_{1/f}$ represent the three main noise components, namely the white series noise, originating from input MOS thermal noise, the flicker noise, and the white parallel noise, due to the detector leakage current; a_{ws} , a_{wp} and a_f are the constant shaping factors that depend on the order of pulse shaper; γ is the thermal noise coefficient that depends on the operation region of transistor; g_m and C_g are the transconductance and gate capacitance of input MOS transistor; C_p is the load capacitance at the CSA input, which is the summation of the detector parasitic capacitance C_d , feedback capacitor C_f and other parasitic capacitance resulting from bonding; τ is the time constant of the pulse shaper; I_{det} is the detector leakage current and K_F is integrated flicker noise contribution of input transistor.

It can be seen that the thermal noise component is proportional to input capacitance and inversely proportional to the time constant of pulse shaper; the shot noise component is proportional to the time constant while independent to the input capacitance; the 1/f noise component is proportional to input parasitic capacitance while independent to the time constant of pulse shaper. Thus, the ENC is optimized in respect to both the pre-amplifier and the pulse shaper. Details of noise optimization techniques are described in Chapter 3.

2.4 Conclusion

This chapter presents a proposed solution for front-end readout system. It includes a charge sensitive amplifier, a pulse shaper and a peak detector. Equations for calculating the equivalent noise charge are derived.

Chapter 3

Charge Sensitive Amplifier

The charge pulse has to be pre-amplified before any processing that is necessary for increased sensitivity and signal-to-noise ratio could take place. The input pre-amplification can be performed in two ways. The charge can be directly integrated on the detector capacitance and this voltage can be readout with high-input impedance voltage amplifier. However, with the signal strength of our specific detector and its large parasitic capacitance, this method would lead to undetectable voltage signal and is hardly possible. The other way is to use a low input impedance amplifier, using either charge or current amplifier. With charge sensitive amplifier the charge is integrated on a smaller feedback capacitance and voltage step is observed at the output. With the current amplifier, the current is buffered and can be integrated on the smaller capacitor at the output of amplifier. This work focuses mainly on CSA, as it is the dominant structure in detector readout system.



Figure 3.1: Charge Sensitive Amplifier (CSA)

3.1 Circuit Overview

A Charge Sensitive Amplifier or CSA converts input charge signal into voltage signal [10]-[15]. A model of CSA is shown in figure 3.1. The amplifier used in CSA generally has a large input impedance, moderate small signal gain and moderate bandwidth. Due to Miller effect, the current pulse generated by detector mainly flows through the feedback capacitor C_f , as long as $C_p << C_f A_0$, where A_0 is the small signal gain of amplifier. A source follower is used as buffer to drive the output and isolate the sensitive node from large load capacitance. The reset network has three main functions: 1. it resets the output signal of preamplifier after a current pulse is processed; 2. it has to provide the necessary DC feedback for proper operation of amplifier; 3. it has to absorb the DC leakage current of the detector.



Figure 3.2: Two implementations of amplifier

3.1.1 Amplifier

There are two basic configurations to implement the amplifier, shown in figure 3.2. The first configuration is called as a telescopic amplifier. In figure 3.2(a), all transistors are working in the saturation region. By virtue of its transconductance, the input transistor M1 converts variations in its gate-source voltage to a small-signal drain current [18, 19], which pass through the output resistance seen at the output node to generate an output voltage. The cascode transistors M2, M3 boost the output resistance, thus boost overall gain.

The second configuration is called as a folded-cascode amplifier. As shown in figure 3.2(b), the small-signal current created by the input transistor, M1, is folded up. Cascode transistors are also adopted in this configuration. The advantage of the folded-cascode amplifier is, unlike the telescopic amplifier, the biasing current of output transistors doesn't need to be the same as that of the input transistor. Therefore, the input transistor can be biased under a higher current to achieve a higher transconductance, while the output transistors can be biased under a lower current to achieve a higher output resistance [2]. Because transconductance is proportional to the biasing current, to which output resistance is inversely proportional. The

disadvantage of the folded-cascode amplifier is, a) it obviously consumes more current, b) additional pole is created at node X. More variation of the folded-cascode amplifier can be found in [20].

3.1.2 Reset Network

The simplest way to implement the reset network is to use a very large resistor, R_f . However, it has several major drawbacks. Firstly, the noise contributed from R_f added to the white parallel noise component from last chapter. In order to make such contribution negligible, the following relation has to be held:

$$\frac{4kT}{R_f} \ll 2qI_{det} \tag{3.1}$$

where I_{det} is the detector leakage current. Assuming the leakage current to be 100pA, the feedback resistor R_f has to be much larger than 0.5G ohms, which is impossible to integrate on-chip due to limited silicon area.

Secondly, large resistance leads to large voltage drop across the resistor. Assuming values of leakage current and resistance from above, the voltage drop across the resistor is about hundred millivolts, which might be too much for small voltage supply technology. Thirdly, the feedback resistor solution adapts poorly to variation of detector leakage current.

An alternative is to use clocked reset switch, implemented by one single transistor. The reset is established by closing the reset switch that connects input and output of CSA. The disadvantage of this option is that 1) there is no dc path for the leakage current, so it will also integrate on the feedback capacitor, which leads to frequent reset to avoid saturation of the amplifier; 2) fast digital clock signal is a major interference for high-sensitive systems.

Adaptive reset can be achieved by using a MOSFET biased in saturation shown



Figure 3.3: Adaptive reset network

in figure 3.3 [16], [17]. Transistor M_f is connected between amplifier's output and input, its gate is connected to a fixed biasing voltage. In this configuration, for small changes in V_{gs} , the transistor absorbs a wide range of values of leakage current, from sub-pA to hundreds of nA. Allowing the transistor to be biased in saturation ensures that the drain current is not effect by changes at the amplifier's input. The transistor should also be selected with a length much larger than width so that it is biased in strong inversion. The reason for that is for the same amount of drain current, transistor in strong inversion has less noise contribution than it is in weak inversion.

One problem for this solution is the discharge is not linear due to the non-linear dependence of drain current on V_{gs} . A compensation network composed with C_z and M_z is included to ensure linearity. C_z and M_z are N times replicas of C_f and M_f , therefore cancels the additional zero produced by the adaptive reset network. A charge gain of N is also provided by the compensation network, $Q_{out} = NQ_{in}$. The noise contribution from M_z is negligible as long as N >> 1.

3.2 Noise Analysis

The ENC equations for three main components are provided in previous chapter, and they are relisted here.

$$ENC_{ws}^{2} = a_{ws} \frac{\gamma}{g_{m}} (C_{p} + C_{g})^{2} \frac{1}{\tau}$$
(3.2)

$$ENC_{wp}^2 = a_{wp}I_{det}\tau\tag{3.3}$$

$$ENC_{1/f}^2 = a_f K_F (C_p + C_g)^2$$
(3.4)

where ENC_{ws} , ENC_{wp} and $ENC_{1/f}$ represent the three main noise components, the white series noise, the flicker noise, and the white parallel noise.

The transconductance of transistor biased in strong inversion can be expressed as:

$$g_{m,strong} = \sqrt{2I\mu C_{ox}W/L} \tag{3.5}$$

and that biased in weak inversion can be expressed as:

$$g_{m,weak} = \frac{I}{nU_T} \tag{3.6}$$

where n is the subthreshold slope coefficient, U_T is the thermal voltage, μ is the mobility of holes in a specific process, C_{ox} is the gate oxide capacitance per unit area, I W and L is the biasing current, width and length of input transistor.

The flicker noise of MOS transistor has two different origins [21, 22]. The δN model assumes the drain noise current is a result of fluctuation of charge carriers. The $\delta \mu$ model assumes that the fluctuation of charge carriers mobility generates the noise. Studies have shown that p-MOSFET generally follows the δN model when biased in weak inversion, and the $\delta \mu$ model when biased in strong inversion. Therefore, the 1/f flicker noise voltage spectral density S_F can be expressed as:

$$S_{F,\delta N} = \left(\frac{q^2 n k T N_T}{2\beta C_{ox}^2}\right) \frac{1}{WL} \frac{1}{f}$$
(3.7)

$$S_{F,\delta\mu} = \left(\frac{nq\alpha_H}{\sqrt{2\mu C_{ox}^3}}\right) \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{W^3L}}\right) \sqrt{I} \frac{1}{f}$$
(3.8)

where k is the Boltzman constant, T is the absolute temperature, α_H is the Hooge constant, N_T is the oxide/interface trap density per unit volume and energy at the quasi Fermi level, β is the tunneling parameter of the traps. It is seen that the $\delta\mu$ model predicts the noise increases with the root square of biasing current I, while the δN model predicts that the noise is independent of I.

As of these reasons, optimization is formulated under two different conditions, strong inversion and weak inversion of input transistor region of operation.

3.2.1 Strong inversion

By inserting value of transconductance of transistor biased in strong inversion in (3.2) and spectral density model of 1/f noise in (3.4), we obtain

$$ENC_{ws}^{2} = \left(\frac{a_{ws}}{\tau} \frac{\gamma L}{q^{2}\sqrt{2\mu/n}}\right) \frac{(C_{p} + C_{g})^{2}}{\sqrt{C_{g}}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{I}}$$
(3.9)

$$ENC_{1/f}^{2} = \left(a_{f} \frac{nq\alpha_{H}L}{\sqrt{2\mu}}\right) \frac{(C_{p} + C_{g})^{2}}{\sqrt{C_{g}^{3}}} \sqrt{I}$$
(3.10)

The total ENC can be expressed as:

$$ENC_{tot,strong}^{2} = A_{1} \frac{(C_{p} + C_{g})^{2}}{\sqrt{C_{g}}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{I}} \frac{1}{\tau} + A_{2} \frac{(C_{p} + C_{g})^{2}}{\sqrt{C_{g}^{3}}} \sqrt{I} + A_{3}\tau \qquad (3.11)$$

where A_1 , A_2 and A_3 are constants that can be derived from previous equations.

Thus, the total ENC is expressed in terms of three design variables: biasing current I, gate capacitance of input transistor C_g and shaping constant τ .

Optimum I exists as ENC_{ws} decreases with I while $ENC_{1/f}$ increases with I. Optimum τ exists as ENC_{ws} and ENC_{wp} share the same relation. For a fixed current, it is derived that minimum thermal noise would be achieved for $C_g = 1/3C_p$, while the minimum flicker noise is achieved for $C_g = 3C_p$, if thermal and flicker noise would be independently optimized.

Inserting equation 3.5 into (3.2) and spectral density model of 1/f noise in (3.4), we obtain

$$ENC_{ws}^{2} = \left(\frac{a_{ws}}{\tau} \frac{\gamma L}{q^{2}\sqrt{2\mu/n}}\right) \frac{(C_{p} + C_{g})^{2}}{\sqrt{C_{g}}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{I}}$$
(3.12)

$$ENC_{1/f}^{2} = \left(a_{f} \frac{nq\alpha_{H}L}{\sqrt{2\mu}}\right) \frac{(C_{p} + C_{g})^{2}}{\sqrt{C_{g}^{3}}} \sqrt{I}$$
(3.13)

The total ENC can be expressed as:

$$ENC_{tot,strong}^{2} = A_{1} \frac{(C_{p} + C_{g})^{2}}{\sqrt{C_{g}}} \frac{1}{\sqrt{I}} \frac{1}{\tau} + A_{2} \frac{(C_{p} + C_{g})^{2}}{\sqrt{C_{g}^{3}}} \sqrt{I} + A_{3}\tau \qquad (3.14)$$

where A_1 , A_2 and A_3 are constants that can be derived from previous equations.

Thus, the total ENC is expressed in terms of three design variables: biasing current I, gate capacitance of input transistor C_g and shaping constant τ .

Optimum I exists as ENC_{ws} decreases with I while $ENC_{1/f}$ increases with I. Optimum τ exists as ENC_{ws} and ENC_{wp} share the same relation. For a fixed current, it is derived that minimum thermal noise would be achieved for $C_g = 1/3C_p$, while the minimum flicker noise is achieved for $C_g = 3C_p$, if thermal and flicker noise would be independently optimized.

Unconstraint optimization

Absolute minimum can be derived by calculating partial derivatives with respect to I, C_g and τ of equation 3.14, and equating them to zero. The results are written as:
$$C_{g,opt} = C_p$$

$$I_{opt} = \sqrt[3]{\frac{A_1^2 A_3^2 C_p}{16A_2^5}}$$

$$\tau_{opt} = \sqrt[3]{\frac{16A_1 A_2}{A_3^2} C_p^2}$$
(3.15)

When the above optimum is feasible, $ENC_{ws} = ENC_{up} = ENC_{1/f}$ and

$$min[ENC_{tot,strong}^{2}] = 3\sqrt[3]{16A_{1}A_{2}A_{3}}\sqrt[3]{C_{p}^{2}}$$
(3.16)

The above analysis has to be kept within the assumption that the input transistor is in strong inversion, therefore the following equations has to be held.

$$I > 5I_S, \tag{3.17}$$

with

$$I_s = 2n\mu C_{ox} U_T^2 \frac{W}{L},\tag{3.18}$$

This leads to upper bound on size of transistor

$$C_g < \frac{IL^2}{10n\mu U_T^2}.$$
(3.19)

For our detector with 50pF parasitic capacitance and 10pA leakage current, unconstraint optimization leads to minimum ENC of $128e^-$ at a biasing current of 22mA, which is significantly over the power consumption limit of our system.

Constraint optimization

The constraints on the optimization of ENC originate from rate of the events, that presents the upper bound on the choice of τ , total power consumption of CSA, that constraints the biasing current and the chip area, that presents constraint for choice of C_g . There is also additional constraint that links choice of biasing current and gate capacitance, related to the operation region of the input transistor, which is expressed in (3.19).

As derived in [22], when the biasing current is higher than I_{opt} , the suboptimum capacitive ratio tends toward $C_g/C_p = 3$ as 1/f noise becomes dominant; when the biasing current is lower than I_{opt} , the suboptimum capacitive ratio moves to $C_g/C_p = 1/3$ as thermal noise becomes dominant. If the biasing current is further lowering to a point that even $C_g/C_p = 1/3$ cannot holds the input transistor in strong inversion, the suboptimum point is reached at $C_g/C_p = 1/3$.

If the shaping time constant is limited by the event rate, and must be shorter than τ_{opt} , then the suboptimum biasing current is higher than I_{opt} and suboptimum capacitive ratio is moving toward $C_g/C_p = 1/3$ since shorter shaping time constant results in larger thermal noise component.

3.2.2 Weak Inversion

Transistor biased in weak inversion has the highest g_m/I_d ratio, therefore it is desired to bias the transistor in weak inversion for applications that have tight power budget. ENC for the case of input transistor operating in weak inversion can be obtained by inserting the transconductance in (3.6)into (3.2) and δN model for 1/f noise in (3.4)

$$ENC_{ws}^{2} = \frac{a_{ws}\gamma nkT}{Iq} (C_{p} + C_{g})^{2} \frac{1}{\tau}$$
(3.20)

$$ENC_{1/f}^{2} = a_{f} \left(\frac{q^{2}nkTN_{T}}{2\beta C_{ox}}\right) \frac{(C_{p} + C_{g})^{2}}{C_{g}}$$
(3.21)

The total ENC can be expressed as:

$$ENC_{tot,weak}^{2} = B_{1} \frac{(C_{p} + C_{g})^{2}}{I} \frac{1}{\tau} + B_{2} \frac{(C_{p} + C_{g})^{2}}{C_{g}} + B_{3}\tau$$
(3.22)

where B_1 , B_2 and B_3 are constants that can be derived from previous equations.

Optimum τ still exists. For a given C_g , $ENC_{tot,weak}$ decreases continuously as the biasing current I is increased. If other parameters are fixed, the minimum thermal noise is achieved at lowest C_g while $C_g = C_p$ is minimum for flicker noise.

Unconstraint optimization

In order to keep the input transistor biased in weak inversion, the following relationships have to be held:

$$I < 0.01 I_S,$$
 (3.23)

and leading to

$$I < \frac{C_g n \mu U_T^2}{50L^2}$$
(3.24)

Therefore, optimum I is chosen as the largest current that keeps the input transistor in weak inversion.

$$I_{opt} = \frac{C_g n \mu U_T^2}{50L^2}$$
(3.25)

Optimum C_g and τ can be calculated as the solutions for the following equations:

$$\frac{\partial ENC_{tot,weak}}{\partial C_g} = 0$$

$$\frac{\partial ENC_{tot,weak}}{\partial \tau} = 0$$
(3.26)

which gives the unconstraint optimum point at weak inversion as:

$$C_{g,opt} = C_p$$

$$I_{opt} = \chi C_p$$

$$\tau_{opt} = 2\sqrt{\frac{B_1}{B_3\chi}C_p}$$
(3.27)

where $\chi = \frac{n\mu U_T^2}{50L^2}$.



Figure 3.4: Optimized ENC with different biasing currents at weak inversion

When the above optimum point is feasible to implement, the absolute minimum ENC in weak inversion is

$$min[ENC_{tot,weak}^2] = 4\sqrt{\frac{B_1B_3}{\chi}C_p} + 4B_2C_p$$
 (3.28)

With our specific sensor, unconstraint optimization leads to minimum ENC of $206e^-$ at a biasing current of $44\mu A$. Therefore, the ENC is increased less than two times while the power consumption can be reduced by about 500 times.

Constraint optimization

The conditions where the three design variables are limited are considered respectively. If biasing current I is fixed. Optimum τ is calculated as $\tau_{subopt1} = \sqrt{\frac{B_1}{B_3I}}(C_p + C_g)$. After insert the optimum time constant into (3.22), it is observed that for thermal noise, the optimum C_g is chosen as the smallest value to keep the transistor in weak inversion; for flicker noise, the optimum C_g is at C_p . Figure 3.4 shows a simulation with different biasing currents. ENC worsens about 10% for biasing current drops to 30% of its optimum value.



Figure 3.5: Optimized ENC with different capacitive ratio at weak inversion

If C_g is limited due to area constraint, optimum biasing current has to be chosen as the largest value to keep the transistor in weak inversion, or $I_{subopt2} = \chi C_g$. Optimum τ can still be calculated as

$$\tau_{subopt2} = \sqrt{\frac{B_1}{B_3\chi}} \frac{C_p + C_g}{\sqrt{C_g}}$$
(3.29)

which gives suboptimum ENC to be

$$ENC_{subopt2} = 2\sqrt{\frac{B_1 B_3}{\chi}} \frac{C_p + C_g}{\sqrt{C_g}} + B_2 \frac{(C_p + C_g)^2}{C_g}$$
(3.30)

Figure 3.5 shows a simulation with different capacitive ratio between C_g and C_p . ENC worsens about 10% for input transistor size drops to 30% of its optimum value.

If the shaping time constant is fixed due to event rate, the same optimization process results in $I_{subopt3} = \chi C_p$, $C_{g,subopt3} = C_p$. The suboptimum ENC is calculated as

$$ENC_{subopt3} = \frac{4B_1C_p}{\chi}\frac{1}{\tau} + 4B_2C_p + B_3\tau$$
(3.31)



Figure 3.6: Optimized ENC with different time constant

Figure 3.6 shows a simulation with different limited time constant. ENC worsens about 10% for time constant drops to 50% of its optimum value.

3.2.3 Comparison and discussion

When absolute minimum noise is desired, the transistor would be biased in strong inversion. However, in circumstances where the biasing current of input transistor is fixed in a low range due to limited power budget, the optimization process is modified and choice of region of operation of the transistor depends on the required power consumption. The optimum point also varies with different sensor specs and noise requirements.

For our specific design, we have relatively flexible choices over time constant and input transistor size, while power consumption is our main concern. Figure 3.7 shows a simulation with biasing current below 1mA, which is a reasonable current range most readout system adopt. The X-axis is biasing current, and Y-axis is the minimum achievable ENC for the fixed biasing current if the transistor operates in strong inversion or weak inversion, assuming optimum point of C_g and τ are



Figure 3.7: Optimized ENC as a function of biasing current under strong and weak inversion.

feasible.

In strong inversion, ENC monotonically decreases as current increases. Since the input transistor cannot be large enough to be equal to C_p , due to the relative small biasing current, the minimum ENC is always achieved when C_g is the largest value that keeps the input transistor in strong inversion. In weak inversion, a minimum ENC exists at point where $C_g = C_p$, and biasing current equals to the largest value that can keep input transistor in weak inversion.

As can be seen from the figure, when biasing current around hundreds of μA , weak inversion is advantageous over strong inversion; when biasing current moves to above 1mA, strong inversion becomes more preferred. However, the above conclusion ignores the moderate inversion, the biasing region between weak inversion and strong inversion. In the region between $100\mu A$ and 1mA, moderate inversion is better than weak inversion. Because in moderate inversion, the transistor can biased at capacitive matching point, $C_g = C_p$; while in weak inversion, the transistor has to be moved away from the capacitive matching point to keep weak inversion biasing. The problem for moderate inversion is that there are no accurate flicker noise model in moderate inversion, measurement data of single transistor is required to construct models in moderate inversion. In lack of actual measurement result of our targeted process, we constructed moderate inversion flicker noise model with the help of weak inversion and strong inversion models, assuming that in moderate inversion the two origins of flicker have a combined role, which depends on the inversion coefficient. The inversion coefficient can be calculated as I/I_s , where I_s is described in equation 3.18. In our design, we choose biasing current of $100\mu A$ and $C_g = C_p$. The input transistor is biased in the moderate inversion.

3.3 Design and Simulation

Figure 3.8 shows the design of implemented CSA. A separate supply is used for the sensitive input transistor for better noise performance. Several design issues are described in this section.

3.3.1 Noise contributions from other transistors

The additional noise contributions from M_2 , M_3 and M_5 can be approximated as:

$$V_{n,add}^{2} = (V_{n2}^{2}g_{m2}^{2} + V_{n5}^{2}g_{m5}^{2})/g_{m1}^{2} + V_{n3}^{2}(\frac{C_{gd1}}{C_{gd1} + C_{gs1} + C_{p}})^{2}$$
(3.32)

where V_{n2} , V_{n5} and V_{n3} are input referred noise at the gate of M_2 , M_5 and M_3 respectively.

The input referred voltage noise from M_2 and M_5 is scaled by the transconductance of M_1 . Because M_2 and M_1 have similar biasing current, and NMOS normally has at least order of magnitude higher flicker noise coefficient than PMOS,



Figure 3.8: Schematic of implemented CSA

the noise contribution from M_2 can not be neglected. To reduce the thermal noise from M_2 , g_{m2} has to be small, which leads to more voltage headroom for fixed biasing current. To reduce the flicker noise from M_2 , the transistor has to be made big, which leads to stability problem that will be discussed in the next section. Therefore, it is also advantageous to bias M_1 in weak inversion and M_2 in strong inversion, so that the noise contribution from M_2 can be efficiently scaled down.

The noise from M_3 is coupled through C_{gd1} to the input of CSA. Since M_1 is normally very large, this component is not negligible. Considering the additional noise sources from (3.32), the optimization process has been modified, and the optimum point is slightly different.



Figure 3.9: Open circuit schematic after breaking the loop

3.3.2 Stability analysis

The large input transistor makes the non-dominant pole of CSA amplifier closer to its dominant pole, thus the stability of CSA requires careful examination.

Assuming that the source follower is an ideal buffer and the reset MOS transistor has a very large equivalent resistance R_f , the small signal model of open loop circuit is shown in Figure 3.9. g_{m3} is the transconductance of M_3 , r_o is the equivalent output resistance of CSA amplifier, $C_x = C_{gd1} + C_{db1} + C_{gd2} + C_{db2} + C_{gs3} + C_{sb3}$ is the total capacitance at the folding node and C_l is the capacitance at the CSA output. The feedback network is C_f in parallel with R_f . Thus, the loop gain can be derived as:

$$A(s)\beta = \frac{V_{out}(s)}{I_{in}(s)}\beta = \frac{g_m(r_o||R_f)(\frac{s}{Z_1}+1)}{(\frac{s}{P_1}+1)(\frac{s}{P_2}+1)(\frac{s}{P_3}+1)}$$
(3.33)

where zero is at $z_1 = 1/(R_f C_f)$ and poles are at $p_1 = 1/[R_f (C_f + C_p)]$, $p_2 = 1/[(r_o||R_f)(C_f + C_l)]$ and $p_3 = g_{m3}/C_x$. p_1 is attributed to the capacitive load at the input node, p_2 and p_3 are the two poles associated from CSA amplifier. The feed-forward zero comes from the RC network in feedback.

The pole and zero locations are shown in Figure 3.10. The unity frequency gain f_u can be approximated as:

$$f_u = \frac{g_m C_f}{(C_f + C_l)(C_p + C_f)}$$
(3.34)



Figure 3.10: Pole zero location of CSA

The first pole and zero occurs at relatively low frequency, their phase contribution can be approximately canceled. Therefore, the first non-dominant pole appears after f_u is critical and ultimately determines the phase margin of the loop. It is reasonable to assume that the CSA amplifier's non-dominant pole is fixed, thus it is desired to place f_u far away from p_3 .

Smaller C_f makes CSA more stable, however large amplifier gain is required due to high C_p/C_f ratio. Thus, adding compensation capacitive load C_l is the only feasible option. For these reasons, for our design the chosen values for C_l and C_f are 2pF and 500fF respectively, and achieved phase margin is over 70° .

Figure 3.11 shows a simulation of the designed CSA with different compensation capacitors C_l . The effectiveness of previous stability model is proven. Though the added compensation capacitor slows down the circuit's step response to over 3us, a large time constant of following shaper makes the overall readout system unaffected.



Figure 3.11: Simulation of CSA with different compensation capacitors

3.3.3 Cascade CSA stages

In order to increase the overall gain provided from pre-amplification stage, thus reduces the noise contribution from the subsequent shaper, a second CSA stage is added as shown in figure 3.12. Pole-zero compensation networks are formed by a parallel connection of N-replica of C_{f1} , M_{f1} and C_{f2} , M_{f2} . A second CSA stage increase the overall gain by another factor N_2 . The compensation network forces the second amplifier has the same DC point as the first amplifier. Since the input capacitance of second amplifier is not as large as first amplifier, the second amplifier was designed as a scaled-down version of the first amplifier. Also, the additional compensation capacitor is not required for the second amplifier. In our design, we have used $N_1 = N_2 = 10$, $C_{f1} = C_{f2} = 500 fF$.

3.3.4 Simulation

The circuit is designed under AMI $0.5\mu m$ CMOS process. Selection of transistor sizes and capacitor values are listed in table 3.1. The amplifier used in the



Figure 3.12: Cascading two CSAs as input stage

Table 3.1: Transistor sizes and capacitor values of designed CSA

M_1	$54k\lambda/4\lambda$
M_2	$700\lambda/16\lambda$
M_3	$400\lambda/16\lambda$
M_4	$600\lambda/16\lambda$
M_5	$600\lambda/16\lambda$
M_{f1}	$6\lambda/200\lambda$
C_{f1}	500 fF
C_x	2pF

seconde CSA stage is a five-times scaled down version of the one used in the first CSA.

The circuit was simulated using Cadence SpectreS simulator and BSIM3 version 3.1 transistor models. Figure 3.13 shows a simulation result of 10K input electrons.

3.4 Current-mode preamplifier

A current mode preamplifier suitable for the readout system is also worth mentioning. With the current amplifier, the current is buffered and can be integrated on the smaller capacitor at the output of the amplifier. This approach provides a solu-



Figure 3.13: Simulation of cascade CSAs with 10K input electrons

tion without using feedback, thus allows faster response time to radiation event, but the theoretical noise sensitivity is higher in this case. The current-mode preamplifier is not the main focus of this dissertation, thus its design and implementation are briefly discussed in this section.

The basic concept is to use a current buffer to isolate the large input parasitic capacitance associated with detector, and direct the generated charge into a small capacitor [24, 25, 26, 27]. The current mode preamplifier avoids charging and discharging of the parasitic capacitors to high-voltage levels and keeps the internal nodes at low-impedance values [28]. The current buffer should have low input impedance, high bandwidth and low noise [29]-[35]. A simple structure of current buffer is the common gate current buffer (CG) [36, 37], shown in figure 3.14(a). The input impedance is derived to be $1/gm_1$. As long as the impedance seen into the input of current buffer is greatly smaller than the parasitic capacitance within signal bandwidth, the current pulse created by the detector will flow into the current buffer. However, since the parasitic capacitance is fairly large in our design, the transconductance of input transistor must be large to have enough bandwidth. It



Figure 3.14: Current-mode preamplifier implementations

leads to large power consumption, because the transconductance is proportional to biasing current.

An alternative option for current buffer is the regulated cascode structure (RGC) [38]. Figure 3.14(b) shows schematic of RGC. The input impedance is boosted to $1/gm_1(1+Rbgm_b)$. It greatly relaxes the input transistor and thus reduces power consumption. While decreasing the input impedance, the local feedback stage inherently produces a zero, which causes a peaking in the frequency response. In order to avoid this peaking from the bandwidth, tradeoff in the resistance R_b or the gate width W_1 of M1 has to be considered. The choice of R_b is related to the voltage gain of the feedback loop and it is setting the biasing current of Mb. Reducing W_1 may lead to the increase of the channel thermal noise contribution from M1 due to smaller gm_1 .

3.4.1 Small Signal Analysis

Similar to the analysis shown above, the input transistor can be modeled as a transconductor. A small signal analysis shows its input impedance is calculated as:

$$Z_{in,CG} = \frac{1}{g_{m1}}$$
(3.35)

And RGC's input impedance is calculated as:

$$Z_{in,RGC} = \frac{1}{g_{m1}(g_{mb}R_b + 1)}$$
(3.36)

For simplicity, the circuit can be modeled as a two poles system, with one pole at the input node, the other at the output. Transfer functions can be described as follows:

$$H_{CG}(s) = \frac{Vout(s)}{Iin(s)} = \frac{R}{(\frac{C_{in}}{g_{m1}}s + 1)(RC_{out}s + 1)}$$
(3.37)

$$H_{RGC}(s) = \frac{Vout(s)}{Iin(s)} = \frac{R}{(\frac{C_{in}}{g_{m1}(g_{mb}Rb+1)}s+1)(RC_{out}s+1)}$$
(3.38)

where gm is the input transconductance of M1. Assuming the input pole is much greater than the output pole, and R is very large, signal outputs in response to a single electron in both configurations can be expressed approximately as:

$$V_{s,out} = \frac{q}{C_{out}} \tag{3.39}$$

where q is the charge of a single electron. If C_{out} is equal to C_f , it is a same result as voltage mode preamplifier.

3.4.2 Noise Analysis

The noise models of both CG and RGC structures are shown in figure 3.15. The input-referred noise current per unit bandwidth for CG structure is:

$$I_n^2 = \frac{8}{3}kT\frac{1}{g_{m1}}(C_{in}s)^2 + \frac{8}{3}kTg_{m2} + 4kT\frac{1}{R}$$
(3.40)



Figure 3.15: Noise models of CG and RGC

The input-referred noise current per unit bandwidth for RGC structure is:

$$I_n^2 = \frac{C_{in}s^2(\frac{8}{3}kTg_{mb} + 4kT\frac{1}{R_b})}{g_{mb} + 1/R_b} + \frac{8}{3}kT\frac{1}{g_{m1}}(C_{gs1} + C_{gdb})s^2 + \frac{8}{3}kTg_{m2} + 4kT\frac{1}{R}$$
(3.41)

The CG noise equation reveals two problems of the structure. First, it requires a relatively large gm_1 . This is a direct impact of the large input capacitance, since a smaller gm1 limits the bandwidth of the current buffer, and fewer charges is integrated on the output capacitance. A large gm_1 can be achieved with either wider transistor or larger biasing current. The former increases the gate capacitance of M1, which in turn, adds up to the input capacitance. The latter obviously leads to higher power consumption. Second, it shows little flexibility in the design of CG preamplifier. The only parameter under control is gm_2 . However, for a fixed bias current, gm_2 is reduced only at the cost of voltage headroom. Compared to CG structure, the RGC structure greatly relaxes the requirement of gm_1 , and thus reduces power consumption. The contribution from M2 can be reduced as, in RGC, it has a smaller biasing current which leads to smaller gm_2 . It is observed that noise contributed from M1 is now related with a much smaller capacitance $C_{gs1} + C_{gdb}$, and high frequency noise associated with the large input capacitance is now related with Mb.

However, the current buffer preamplifier generally displays disadvantage in noise performance over CSA. The noise contributions from M2 and R are related with the input node directly. While in the voltage preamplifier, the noise contributed by current sources is scaled by the input transistor.

3.4.3 Design and Simulation

Since the large input parasitic capacitance, a current buffer based on regulated cascode structure is designed under AMI 0.6μ m CMOS process. Several design issues are described following.

A larger R and a smaller C_{out} is in favored in the preamplifier design. However, large R leads to large voltage headroom, which is directly related with power consumption. An additional current mirror is added in figure 3.16 to divert part of the biasing current. Also a feedback loop is applied to control the additional current mirror. The feedback loop also makes the preamplifier adaptable to different leakage current. The amplifier in the loop has a very low bandwidth so that it won't effect the output signal.

However, two problems remain. The parasitic capacitance of M4 increases C_{out} significantly. Because M4 suffers from low mobility and must be quite wide to carry a large current. This issue is combated with another cascode transistor M3. With a smaller biasing current, M3 can be sized small. Noise analysis shows its



Figure 3.16: Schematic with added current mirror

noise contribution is negligible.

Another problem is that the added current mirror produces more noise. A comparison between smaller R without additional current mirror and larger R with additional current mirror is provided in [39]. It is derived that the added current mirror has about $\alpha(2\gamma - 1)$ times more noise, where $I_{d4} = \alpha I_{d1}$ and γ is the thermal noise factor. Fortunately, the noise contribution from R in equation (8) is much smaller than the other terms. Therefore, the added noise can be ignored.

The biasing current in this design is chosen as 1mA for the main branch, and 0.5mA for the RGC branch. The transistor sizes and their noise contributions are listed in table 3.2.

The circuit was simulated using Cadence SpectreS simulator and BSIM3 version 3.1 transistor models. Figure 3.17 shows the simulated transient response. The gain of the preamplifier is about 250 mV/fC.

Transistors	W/L ratio	Noise contribution
M1	68	0.003%
Mb	136	82%
M2	40	18%
M3	5.6	0.04%
M4	60	0.06%

Table 3.2: Transistor sizes of current buffer and their noise contribution



Figure 3.17: Current buffer simulated transient response

3.4.4 Measurement Result

The designed chip was fabricated through $0.5\mu m$ CMOS process with 2 poly and 3 metal layers. The chip works with a single 5-V supply and has an overall power consumption of 7mW.

The fabricated chip is tested with a custom designed general purpose mixedsignal test station equipped with PC interface and FPGA development board. Test station is interfaced to PC through data acquisition card NI-6259 for characterization and to FPGA development board, built around a Xilinx Spartan 3E FPGA, for real-time measurements. Test station is comprised of motherboard, that contains interface circuitry to PC and FPGA, digital-to-analog converters for providing biasing voltages and power regulators, and daughter card, that contains ASIC and enables flexible connections to motherboard through wire-up. Figure 3.18 shows a picture of test station.

The input current pulse was generated by applying voltage step with rise time of 5 ns through function generator to input of the chip. That input was connected to virtual ground of input amplifier through capacitor Ctest, implemented on chip, with value of 1 pF. Capacitance Cdet is inserted at the input node of amplifier and has value of 50 pF, same as parasitic capacitance of photo-detector.

Although the test station has problems with high parasitic and environment interference, it provides a convenient and fast way to do preliminary test for ASICs. For more precise testing, a specific designed printed custom board (PCB) needs to be designed.

Figure 3.19 shows a picture of the output signal where the input current pulse corresponds to charge of 100,000 electrons. The input pulse was simulated as a voltage step with 5ns rise time passing through a 1pF capacitor connected serially to the input.



Figure 3.18: Custom designed test station



Figure 3.19: Measurement of current buffer

3.5 Conclusion

A design of low-noise charge sensitive amplifier (CSA) for measurement of optical response of photo-detector registering light produced by semiconductor scintillator is presented. Detailed analysis of the CSA suitable for large parasitic detector capacitance is provided, regarding noise, power and stability. Two scenarios where input transistor is biased in strong inversion and weak inversion are compared, with included accurate 1/f noise modeling. Current-mode preamplifier is also investigated and implemented with CMOS process. Measurement result of designed current-mode preamplifier is presented.

Chapter 4

Analog Signal Processing

As stated in part I, analog signal processing is essential in building smart sensing system. In this chapter, design theories and issues regarding the pulse shaping filter and the peak detector are presented.

4.1 Semi-Gaussian Pulse Shaping Filter

The output signal from preamplifier is further processed by a pulse shaping filter to maximize signal to noise ratio. Many literatures [42]-[47] have already proven that a semi-Gaussian shaper is the optimum choice of pulse shaper for radiation detection application. Before we take further analysis, it is worth to see how the pulse shaper filters noise. Figure 4.1 displays Matlab simulation results with a first order semi-Gaussian pulse shaper and other conventional design parameters. As seen from the figures, the semi-Gaussian pulse shaper has a cusp shape transfer function. It filters both the low frequency noise and the high frequency noise. However, for different noise components, the pulse shaper has different aspects. The thermal noise passes the pulse shaper directly and is filtered both at high frequency and low



Figure 4.1: Pulse shaper for different noise components

frequency. The 1/f noise is filtered in a similar way, except at low frequency 1/f noise is higher than thermal noise. The shot noise is filtered only at high frequency because it passes the feedback capacitor before it reaches pulse shaper.

It is clear that the pulse shaper has an optimized design to balance the filtering among the three components. In chapter 3, the equation to calculate optimum τ , the time constant, is provided. However, since our specific detector has a fairly low leakage current (about 10pA) the optimum shaping time is as large as 100us. Luckily the application we target has a low event rate, we have the luxury to implement long shaping time to further reduce the noise. However, due to constraints in technology and layout, the resistor and capacitor values required to implement such long shaping time are far from practical in integrated circuit design. A structure called R-lens filter [48], [50] has been selected to implement the shaper.

A significant design challenge for the ASIC is to minimize the noise, so as to get the minimum possible signal detected. However, the design parameters for minimum noise are greatly effected by the variability in the parameters of the detector, such as the parasitic capacitance and the leakage current. This section also provides an adaptive solution that can be incorporated in the system to compensate for the variations of the detector and readout circuitry.

4.1.1 Optimum number of shaper order

The order of shaping filter depends on the number of integrator it includes. Higher order of shaper leads to lower noise, but at a price of more power consumption and area. The order of shaper in our design is determined through a simulation shown in figure 4.2, where ENC is plotted with order of shaper. It is seen that the most noise reduction happens between 1st order and 2nd order. Thus, we designed a 2nd order shaper to compromise between noise, power and area.

4.1.2 Design of Shaper with large time constant

The schematic of a single RC cell used in the shaping filter along with the schematic of the ICON cell are shown in figure 4.3 and figure 4.4. The ICON cell is essentially a current mirror with ratio of M [49], [51]. The current mirror makes the equivalent resistor M times higher than the integrated physical resistance. The ICON cell has the ability to accept current of either polarity. The quiescent of the ICON cell, which is set by $V_{nref} - V_{pref}$, can be very low, thus reducing noise



Figure 4.2: ENC versus order of shaper



Figure 4.3: Schematic of single RC cell

contribution from the shaper. Assuming the ICON cell has a ratio of M, the transfer function of a single RC cell shown in figure 4.3 is:

$$\frac{I_{out}(s)}{I_{in}(s)} = \frac{1}{MRCs+1} \tag{4.1}$$

Therefore, multiple ICON cell can be cascaded to form different order of shaping filter. The amplifier in the single RC cell again needs to be a scaled down version of the amplifier in CSA so that the same DC level can be kept.

The final design of the 2nd order shaping filter is shown in figure 4.5. The ratio



Figure 4.4: Schematic of ICON cell



Figure 4.5: Schematic of 2nd order shaping filter

M in ICON cell is selected to be 100. A current gain of 12 is added in the last RC cell to fully utilize the output swing.

4.1.3 Simulation

The circuit is designed under AMI $0.5\mu m$ CMOS process. R and C in the ICON cell are selected as 80k ohms and 5pF. With the help of ICON cell, a peaking time of $80\mu s$ is achieved. The biasing current of ICON cell is only 20nA. The amplifier used in the pulse shaper is again a five-times scaled down version of the one used



Figure 4.6: Simulation of pulse shaping filter



Figure 4.7: Linearity plot of designed pulse shaper

in the first CSA.

A simulation result of the output of shaper is shown in figure 4.6. The input signal is swept from 20K electrons to 100K electrons.

Figure 4.7 shows a linearity plot of designed pulse shaper. X-axis is the input amplitude, and Y-axis the output peak amplitude. Excellent linearity is achieved.



Figure 4.8: ENC versus time constant

4.2 Adaptive shaping filter

Previous analysis shows that an optimum time constant is available for any set of detector parasitic capacitance and leakage current. Figure 4.8 shows the calculated total ENC as well as three different components based on 50p input capacitance and 10p leakage current. Figure 4.9 shows the total ENC under different detector specifications. In this section, a potential improvement of the designed pulse shaper is proposed and briefly discussed.

Optimum filtering varies according to parameters of detector. To adaptively filter the output signal of CSA, a system shown in figure 4.10 is proposed. The system of single readout channel consists almost the same things except the adaptive control block. The adaptive control block produces threshold level for discrimination of radiation event, it also adaptively adjusts the time constant for the shaper, optimized for minimum output noise and increased sensitivity of the system [52].

In order to adaptively adjust the time constant, a Gm-C filter is proposed to implement the pulse shaper, as shown in figure 4.11. It is a first order differentiator cascaded with a first order integrator. The transfer function can be expressed as



Figure 4.9: ENC versus different specs



Figure 4.10: Block diagram of proposed system for adaptive filtering



Figure 4.11: Continuous-time Gm-C filter implementation of shaper

$$H(s) = \frac{G_{m2}}{G_{m3}} \left[\frac{sC_1/G_{m1}}{1 + sC_1/G_{m1}}\right] \left[\frac{1}{1 + sC_2/G_{m3}}\right]$$
(4.2)

 G_{m1} and G_{m3} are nominally set equal. G_{m1}/C sets the time constant. The ratio of G_{m2} and G_{m3} can be used to set the gain. By changing the biasing current, the transconductance changes, therefore changes the time constant of pulse shaper. The simulated frequency response of the designed filter for pulse shaping is shown in figure 4.12. It shows hot time constant of shaper can be changed by change in the biasing voltage. The biasing voltage of OTA is varied from 3.8V to 4.2V in steps of 200mV. The time constant of the filter is changed from $1\mu s$ to $50\mu s$.

The adaptive control block is used for optimization of noise performance of system through control of biasing current of Gm cell in shaper and optimally setting the threshold value for comparison with peak detector signal for detection of radiation event and triggering of analog-to-digital conversion. Block diagram is shown in figure 4.13.

The variations in the leakage current of the photodiode can be significant, as well as the parameters of the input transistor. These variations affect the optimal performance of the pulse shaper, as shown in Figure 4.9. As derived before, the amplitude of pulse shaper signal does not depend on time constant of shaper. The minimization of ENC with respect to time constant can than be achieved by min-



Figure 4.12: Frequency response of the designed pulse shaper for variation of biasing voltage of OTA.



Figure 4.13: Block diagram of adaptive noise processing

imization of the standard deviation of the output noise signal of the shaper. The output noise signal dependance on time constant of shaper can be written as

$$V_{n,tot}^2 = A/\tau + B\tau + C \tag{4.3}$$

where A, B and C are constants that depend on the parameters of the diode and readout circuitry.

To optimize the time constant of shaper, we propose adaptation based on stochastic perturbation technique [53]. An noise RMS computation block senses the RMS level of output signal from pulse shaper, $V_n(t)$. Based on the sign of the gradient of $V_n(t)$, obtained as difference between $V_n(t + T)$ and $V_n(t)$, a small increment of biasing current is performed, where the sign of constant increment depends on the sign of gradient. To demonstrate the algorithm, we have constructed an artificial output noise signal, which includes 1/f noise, thermal noise and shot noise components, in time domain. The thermal and shot noise are white and follow a Gaussian distribution in the time-domain. The time-domain 1/f noise is generated as described in [54]. Figure 4.14 shows a simulation of the proposed system. The red curve is the calculated ENC versus time constant, and the blue curve shows how the algorithm helps the Gm-C filter to find the best time constant to minimize noise.

Figure 4.15 shows a typical recorded radiation signal in time domain. In order to be power efficient, only the informative data needs to be transmitted. Therefore, the following pulse processing unit needs only to be triggered when the output signal is up certain threshold.

[67] shows that in systems with limited computational resources, taking the absolute value of the neural signal before applying a threshold is just as effective for detecting spikes as applying more elaborate energy-based detectors using digital signal processing techniques. Figure 4.16 presents a proposed block diagram for



Figure 4.14: Simulation of adaptive noise processing



Figure 4.15: Recorded radiation signal



Figure 4.16: Block diagram of adaptive spike detector with absolute value algorithm

an analog spike detector using an absolute value algorithm. It is similar as shown in [68], which is used in a biomedical application. The adaptive real-time threshold set block [69], [70] performs spike detection using a specified multiple (N in figure 4.16, usually 3 to 7) of the background noise rms value. ABS block generates absolute value with respect to common mode reference for input signal. The time window generator block produces 1-bit digital enable signals for a period of time, which is required for successful recording of an active spike signal.

Figure 4.17 shows implemented adaptive spike detector with the ABS. $V_{1\delta}$ is set to the rms level of the input waveform by comparator A and the feedback loop. This voltage is amplified by a constant level, which is set by the ratio of R_1 and R_2 . The voltage, $V_{threshold}$, sets the adaptive threshold voltage. Absolute value circuit consists of two identical operational transconductance amplifiers (OTA) and two identical PMOS cascode mirrors, rather than one OTA with one PMOS current source and one NMOS current sink introduced in [71], to reduce a current mismatch error between NMOS and PMOS.


Figure 4.17: Schematic of the adaptive spike detector using absolute value. Adaptive threshold set scheme was from [69], [70].

4.3 Peak Detector

The peak value of the output pulse from pulse shaper should be sampled before it is sent to analog-to-digital conversion. Some literatures suggest using a large analog memory cell to sample the output signal from pulse shaper at a relatively high frequency [41]. This solution requires large on-chip area and consumes a large amount of power as well. We adopt the solution with peak detector.

Peak detectors are a key element in nuclear electronics signal processing; it captures the peak amplitude of a pulse [55]-[58]. In CMOS design, the peak detector uses an MOS current source as the rectifying unit inside a feedback loop of a high-gain amplifier. A simplified schematic of the classical CMOS peak detector circuit for positive voltage pulses is shown in figure 4.18. The principle operation is similar as in the case of negative voltage pulses.

Transistor M_1 acts as a charging and also as a switching element. Before the



Figure 4.18: Simplified version of pulse shaper

pulse comes at the input V_{in} , the hold voltage V_h tracks the input voltage. When the input voltage V_{in} starts to increase, the gate voltage of M_1 is decreasing sharply. M_1 then turns on, allows C_h to be charged up, and V_h follows V_{in} as the pulse increases. After the pulse is over, V_{in} decreases. The gate voltage of M_1 increases, and turns off M_1 . Then C_h has no charging and discharging path. Therefore, V_h holds the peak value of input pulse.

A two-phase peak detector is proposed in [57] that cancels offset and common mode gain, which are the major error sources of the classical CMOS peak detectors. Figure 4.19 shows the schematic of proposed two-phase peak detector. During $\phi 1$ the circuit functions as the classical version. After the peak value is captured, $\phi 2$ is active, which closes the unity feedback loop around the opamp. The voltage stored at C_h is read out through the unity gain buffer. Since the same amplifier is used in both phases, the offset is canceled. Figure 4.20 shows simplified schematics of the peak detector in two phases separately.

Figure 4.21 shows the schematic of designed OTA. The biasing current is selected to be around 70uA. C_h is selected to be 5pF to reduce offset error. [56], [57] explains a design criteria for OTA to keep the peak detector stable. Since the rise time of shaper output signal is rather slow, the criteria is easily met.

Figure 4.22 shows a simulation result of designed peak detector. The blue curve



Figure 4.19: Schematic of two phase peak detector



Figure 4.20: Simplified schematic of peak detector in two phases



Figure 4.21: Schematic of OTA

is the input semi-Gaussian pulse signal, the red curve is the voltage stored at C_h , the green curve is the final output voltage after $\phi 2$ is activate. It is seen that output voltage is only available after input pulse starts to decrease.

Figure 4.23 shows a linearity plot of designed peak detector. X-axis is the input pulse peak amplitude, and Y-axis the output signal of peak detector. Excellent linearity is achieved.

4.4 Conclusion

This chapter describes the design of a pulse shaper and peak detector. The pulse shaper employs ICON cell, which amplifies the implemented resistance by means of current mirror. Thus, high time constant pulse shaper is built with minimum silicon area. A two-phase peak detector is designed and simulated. The designed peak detector cancels offset errors from operational amplifier. A possible improvement of pulse shaper is also discussed. The proposed adaptive shaping filter has the ability to adjust its time constant according to detectors with different specs.



Figure 4.22: Simulation result of peak detector



Figure 4.23: Linearity plot of designed peak detector

Chapter 5

Implemented ASIC

In previous chapters, we described the analog building blocks to readout signal from radiation detector. This chapter presents an ASIC implementation of the analog section of the front-end readout system.

5.1 Implemented ASIC

The implemented ASICs are fabricated through AMI CMOS 0.5um process [72]. The process employs 3 metal and 2 poly with high-resistance option. The first version employs one single CSA and Figure 6.15 shows a micro-photo of implemented ASIC. Four channels of readout system are integrated into an area of 1.3mm by 1.6mm. Each channel consists of a CSA, pulse shaper and a peak detector. The input node of CSA is placed as close to the pads as possible to minimize parasitic. Biasing and signal routing are placed on the right side of the chip, which are not shown.

The last channel is implemented with on-chip characterizing circuitry. An external tunable current source is added at the input node of CSA to simulate detector



Figure 5.1: Micro-photo of implemented ASIC



Figure 5.2: Layout of CSA

leakage current. Different values of capacitors are also added at the input node to simulate detector parasitic capacitance through control of switches.

Figure 5.2 displays the layout of CSA. The input transistor M_1 takes up to half of the total area. C_f and M_f are placed at the left bottom corner to reduce the routing distance for input node. It can be also seen that the amplifier in second CSA is about 5 times smaller.

Figure 5.3 displays the layout of pulse shaper. Note that the amplifier used in pulse shaper is again a 5 times scaled down copy.

Figure 5.4 displays the layout of peak detector. The digital blocks of peak detector are shielded from analog blocks with a guard ring. Separate power supply is used to power the digital blocks.



Figure 5.3: Layout of pulse shaper



Figure 5.4: Layout of peak detector

5.2 Test setup

An interface board has been designed and fabricated, which will allow for the test of the ASIC. The board provides connections with a data acquisition card NI-PCI 6259, which is installed in a PC. The acquisition card provides analog input and analog output with 16 bits resolution, and up to 48 ports of digital I/Os, which provide digital control signal for the testing chip and also control on-board commercial DACs to generate biasing. Three regulators are used to provide power supplies for the chip: 3.3V analog supply, 3.3V digital supply and a 2.5V supply for the input transistor of CSA to reduce noise.

Figure 6.17 shows a photo shot of the designed interface board. The chip is placed in the black square box in the middle of board. To minimize parasitic effect, chip-on-board technique is employed. The bare die of chip is wire-bonded directly on the board, and fully encapsulated with epoxy. Plug-in sockets provide access with the radiation detector. However, this configuration leads to increased noise. More advanced techniques, such as wire-bonding, bump bonding flip-chip technology, should be applied in the future for more precise test.

When testing without detector, a 1*Gohm* resistor is plug into the sockets to simulate the leakage current. Different capacitors can be soldered serially with the input node to simulate the parasitic capacitance of detector, and also provide input charge by passing a voltage step through the serially connected capacitor.

PC-based supervision of the whole system has been realized by means of MAT-LAB programs.

Figure 5.6 shows a setup to test the ASIC with sensor. Enclosure covered with aluminum foil is used to shield excess environment interfaces. A prototype of the proposed scintillation radiation detector is mounted on the board. A movable holder that holds radiation source and has the ability to control distance between source



Figure 5.5: Photo of the interface test board



Figure 5.6: Setup to test ASIC with sensor

and detector is designed.

5.3 Measurement results

The ASIC is first characterized without detector. Figure 5.7 shows a measurement result of output signal of CSA. The input charge is simulated with a voltage step passed through a 1pF capacitor connected serially with the input node. The input charge is 5K electron, 10K electron and 20K electron, respectively.

Figure 5.8 shows a measured output voltages of CSA as a function of input charge. Good linearity is achieved.

Figure 5.9 shows a measurement result of output signal of shaper. The input charge is simulated the same way as previous test. The input charge is 5K electron, 10K electron, 15K electron, 20K electron and 25K electron, respectively. A



Figure 5.7: Output of CSA for different input signals



Figure 5.8: Measured output voltage of CSA as a function of input charge.



Figure 5.9: Output of pulse shaper for different input signals



Figure 5.10: Experiment result with americium source.

charge gain of approximately 71mV/fC is measured.

Figure 5.10 shows a experiment test result of a real radiation source, americium, placed very closely to the detector. The readout system registers about one thousand events. Based on the readout number of electrons, the registered events are sorted into 50 bins. The plot is a histogram of recorded signal, the X-axis is the number of readout electrons, the Y-axis is the population of each bin.

5.4 Conclusion

This chapter presents the implemented front-end readout ASIC. The designed chip layout, test interface board, and some experimental measurement results are displayed.

Part III

Analog-to-Digital Conversion

Chapter 6

Analog-to-Digital Conversion

Comparing to off-chip analog-to-digital conversion, the design of a sensor system with on-chip analog-to-digital conversion would reduce noise introduced by interconnections between analog and digital modules, and provide a high-throughput recording systems that can provide ability to configure data collection mechanism for reliable data logging [59].

The main constraint in the design of proposed multi-channel system is power and size of analog-to-digital converters. The size constraint leads to channel multiplexing which results in increased data rate of converter and increased power. We propose the use of extended counting technique, that represents combination of incremental and algorithmic ADC, providing resolution of the interest, and on the other hand small form factor.

In this chapter, design of a 13 bit extended counting analog-to-digital converter is presented.

6.1 Extended Counting Analog-to-Digital Conversion

Traditionally, two widely used candidate architectures are available. Deltasigma modulation achieves a high resolution by means of oversampling. This normally leads to an increased power consumption. Moreover, these implementations require digital decimation filters that may occupy several square millimeters of silicon area [60]. Algorithmic ADC [61, 62] has much smaller power consumption and can operated at higher speed. However, the linearity is limited by component matching. In standard CMOS process, only 8-10 bits of resolution can be achieved. Extended counting converter combines the advantages of delta-sigma modulation and algorithmic A/D conversion [60], [63]-[66]. It achieves a good trade-off between accuracy and speed.

The extended counting conversion contains two conversion modes. The converter passes two modes one after the other in time, and each mode needs several clock cycles to complete. Hence, one sample is converted through several clock cycles. A block diagram of the architecture is shown in Figure 6.1. The first mode, which is called "counting conversion", is a resettable first-order delta-sigma modulator. It converts the most significant bits (MSB). Then the residue of the first mode, V_{count} , is fed into the second mode, called "extended counting conversion", which is generally implemented as an algorithmic conversion. The least significant bits (LSB) are obtained in the second mode.

Normally, LSB is set to 10 bits, the limit of algorithmic conversion. The MSBs is determined by the system resolution requirement. For the design example which is shown in this chapter, 13 bits is required. Therefore, we acquired 3 bits from the counting stage and 10 bits from the extended counting stage. So, the first stage needs $2^n = 8$ clock cycles, where n = 3 is the number of MSBs. The second stage needs (n + 2)/2 clock cycles to ensure that the component mismatches limit the



Figure 6.1: Block diagram of extended counting A/D conversion

LSB resolution to 10 bits, where n = 10 is the number of LSBs. Two additional clock cycles are required in the transition between stages, leading to a total 16 clock cycles needed for one conversion.

The designed switched capacitor implementation of ECADC is described as follow. The operation of counting conversion is illustrated in Figure 6.2. An initial reset is performed before each conversion. Each step includes two phases. In the first phase, the input voltage V_{in} is sampled and the output of op-amp is held constant for the comparator to decide the digital output bits D_i . In the second phase, a reference voltage V_{ref} depending on the sign of D_{i-1} from last phase is fed back to the input. C_2 is designed to be two times of C_1 . Therefore a first-order deltasigma modulation is performed. The operation can be expressed in the following equation:

$$V_i = V_{i-1} + \frac{C_1}{C_2} (V_{in} - D_{i-1} V_{ref})$$
(6.1)



Figure 6.2: Counting stage

The operation of extended counting conversion is illustrated in Figure 6.3. Similar circuit operations take place in the extended counting stage, except that two digital bits are generated in one clock cycle. In order to loose the requirement for OPAMP's output voltage range, all capacitors except are set nominally equal. For better linearity, an amplification with the factor of 2 is performed to initialize the second stage [60]. The operation can be expressed in the following equation:

$$V_{i} = \left(1 + \frac{C_{3}}{C_{1}}\right)V_{i-1} - D_{i-1}\frac{C_{3}}{C_{1}}V_{ref}$$
(6.2)

Figure 6.4 shows a single-ended schematic of the designed ADC. The implemented fully differential structure is not shown here for simplicity. Compared with the reported architecture [60], three capacitors are used instead of four. All capac-



Figure 6.3: Extended counting stage

itors are nominally equal, and C_2 and C_3 are connected together in the first stage to provide a larger feedback capacitor. The switches in blue are mostly activated in the counting stage, while the switches in red are mostly activated in the extended counting stage. Figure 6.5 shows the clock scheme of one conversion.

6.1.1 Design of operational amplifier

The most important building block of the ADC is the operational amplifier (OPAMP). Non-ideality of OPAMP effects the overall performance of the ADC. In our design, we have considered the infinite gain o OPAMP, mismatch between nominally equal capacitors, input parasitic capacitance of OPAMP and offset of comparator and OPAMP. Behavior model is constructed in MATLAB to simulate such affects. Figure 6.6 shows the MATLAB simulation result, which is simulated







Figure 6.5: Clock scheme of one conversion



Figure 6.6: Behavior simulation to determine gain requirement of OPAMP



Figure 6.7: Behavior simulation of the targeted OPAMP gain

under the following assumptions: 1. 0.1% mismatch between caps, 2. 3mV offset of comparator and OPAMP, 3. 0.5pF input parasitic capacitance of OPAMP. The simulation indicates a gain of over 100db is required to achieve the target resolution. Figure 6.7 shows a simulation of the worst case scenario, when mismatches and offsets are at their maximum. The red line is 1/2LSB. The input voltage is a sine wave of 2V peak-to-peak amplitude sampled with a frequency of 500KHz. The Y-axis shows the quantization error of the simulated ADC. A effective number of bits (ENOB) of 13.051 is achieved with 100db gain of OPAMP.



Figure 6.8: Schematic of designed OPAMP

The target sampling rate of our design is 512kHz. 16 clock cycles are required for each conversion, which leads to 8MHz of clock frequency. The gain-bandwidth (GBW) of OPAMP should be 5 times greater than the clock frequency to ensure proper settling. OPAMP should be able to settle in half of the clock period. Thus, a GBW over 100MHz is desired.

Considering gain and GBW along with output swing, input capacitance and other requirements, a folded-cascode structure with gain-boosting is selected. Figure 6.8 shows the schematic of designed OPAMP. The gain-boosted amplifiers are also implemented with folded-cascode structure to achieve large output swing. Switch-capacitor common mode feedback is implemented for the OPAMP.

The additional pole which comes with the gain-boosted amplifier affects the overall settling behavior. [73] provides a classic analysis, and the following relationship must hold to maintain fast settling:

$$\frac{1}{\beta}\omega_1 < \omega_3 < \omega_2 \tag{6.3}$$

where β is the closed loop gain, ω_1 and ω_2 are the dominant and first non-dominant poles of the original amplifier, ω_3 is the dominant pole of the gain-boosted amplifier.

The designed OPAMP is simulated to have gain of 106db and 230MHz gainbandwidth.

6.1.2 Design of Switches

Switches used in our design is implemented with CMOS transmission gate. Careful design of switches is required in high speed application. Smaller switches suffer from low conductance, thus the charging or discharging current is not strong enough to meet the speed requirement. Larger switches suffer from large parasitic capacitance.

In our design, proper size of switches are determined through simulation. In most critical path, switches are sized 10 times of the minimal size switches.

6.1.3 Design of Comparator

To reduce the kick-back noise from comparator, the comparator is designed with a two stage structure: pre-amplifier and latch. Figure 6.9 shows the single-ended schematic of preamplifier. The amplifier used in the preamplifier is implemented with a simple high-gain common-source cascode amplifier. Figure 6.10 shows the schematic of designed latch.



Figure 6.9: Schematic of designed preamplifier for comparator



Figure 6.10: Schematic of designed latch for comparator

6.2 Optimization Techniques

This section presents several optimization techniques of designing the extendedcounting ADC.

6.2.1 Optimizing the Number of ADC

The power consumption of ADC is mainly determined by the sampling speed, and the sampling speed is limited by the settling time of OPAMP used in the ADC. To minimize core size, only one ADC is usually chosen. Signals from multiple channels are multiplexed before fed into the ADC. However, this results in a high sampling frequency ADC, which leads to increased power consumption. To achieve an optimum point between size and power, a detail analysis is required.

The settling time is controlled by two parts: slew rate (SR) and gain bandwidth (GBW) of the OPAMP. If one third of the settling time is assigned to slew rate [74], and a single-pole model of OPAMP is used, two equations can be derived:

$$I_D = 3 \cdot f \cdot V_{pp,diff} \cdot C_{L,eff} \tag{6.4}$$

$$I_D \cdot \frac{W}{L} = \frac{9ln^22}{2\mu_0 C_{ox}} \cdot (N+1)^2 f^2 \cdot (\frac{C_{L,eff}}{m})^2$$
(6.5)

where f is the sampling frequency, I_D is the drain current of the OPAMP input differential pair, $V_{pp,diff}$ is the largest differential full scale slewing, $C_{L,eff}$ is the effective load presented at the output of the OPAMP, N is the resolution, and mis the feedback factor. The first equation gives the SR limited current requirement, and the second equation gives the GBW limited current requirement. It is clear that when the SR limitation is dominant, the drain current is linear with frequency, when the GBW limitation is dominant, the drain current follows a square law. Hence, the optimum point between size and power lies when the biasing current of OPAMP is



Figure 6.11: Current consumption versus clock frequency

selected at the SR limited region, but as close as to the GBW limited region.

With the design process parameters and the unit capacitance used in our design, MATLAB simulations are performed to find the optimum number of ADCs. Figure 6.11 plots the current consumption of the OPAMP as a function of sampling frequency f. Based on such plot, the optimum number of ADC and optimum number of channels multiplexed into one ADC are determined.

6.2.2 Different Settling Behaviors in Two Stages

Figure 6.12 shows a typical circuit scheme in ECADC architecture and its equivalent small signal model. Assuming the output impedance of OPAMP R_o is very large and the input parasitic capacitance C_{in} is small, a small-signal analysis indicates that the transfer function is:

$$\frac{V_{out}(s)}{V_{in}(s)} = \frac{C_S(sC_F - G_m)}{C_F G_m + s(C_{out}C_S + C_F C_S + C_F C_{out})}$$
(6.6)

Assuming the input voltage is a unit step, the voltage step in both time and frequency domain is

$$V_{in}(t) = U(t), V_{in}(s) = 1/s.$$
 (6.7)

Thus the output voltage in both domain is

$$V_{out}(t) = \frac{C_S}{C_F} U(t) - \frac{C_S}{C_F} [1 + \frac{b}{a}] e^{-bt} U(t),$$
(6.8)

$$V_{out}(s) = \frac{1}{s} \frac{C_S(sC_F - G_m)}{C_F G_m + s(C_{out}C_S + C_F C_S + C_F C_{out})},$$
(6.9)

where

$$a = \frac{G_m}{C_F}, b = \frac{G_m C_F}{C_{out} C_S + C_F C_S + C_F C_{out}}.$$
(6.10)

The time constant τ of the output voltage is then derived to be

$$\tau = \frac{1}{b} = \frac{C_{out}C_S + C_FC_S + C_FC_{out}}{G_m C_F}.$$
(6.11)

Figure 6.13 shows a simulation result of OPAMP outputs in one conversion. The solid line is the positive output of OPAMP, and the dashed line is the negative output of OPAMP. The fastest settling happens in the first few clock cycles, where the converter works in counting stage. In this stage, $C_S=1p$, $C_F=2p$, C_{out} equals to the parasitic output capacitance of OPAMP. In the last few clock cycles, the converter works in extended counting stage, where $C_S=1p$, $C_F=1p$, C_{out} equals to 1p plus the parasitic output capacitance of OPAMP. In the transition between stages, where the amplification required to initialize extended counting stage is performed, $C_S=2p$, $C_F=1p$, C_{out} equals to the parasitic output capacitance of OPAMP. If the output parasitic capacitance of OPAMP is assumed to be 300f, then

$$\tau_{counting} = \frac{1.45}{G_m}, \tau_{extended} = \frac{3.6}{G_m}, \tau_{transition} = \frac{2.9}{G_m}.$$
 (6.12)



Figure 6.12: Typical circuit scheme in ECADC and its equivalent small signal model

From the above equation, the settling time in extended counting stage is almost 2.5 times than that in counting stage, and the time constant in extended counting stage and transition are fairly the same. Thus, the small-signal analysis does a good prediction of the circuit behavior, and the calculation results approximately match the simulation. Therefore, it is clear that power is wasted if the same OPAMP is used in the whole conversion.



Figure 6.13: Different settling behaviors

Two methods are developed to combat this problem. Firstly, different clocks can be used in conversion. Shorter time period can be assigned to counting stage to take advantage of its shorter time constant. Hence, faster speed can be achieved while consuming the same amount of power, or in other word, lower power is consumed while maintaining the same conversion speed.

Instead of using clocks with different periods, we implemented a reconfigurable OPAMP with adjustable biasing current. Smaller biasing current is needed when the time constant is lower. Hence, the OPAMP is switched to a higher biasing when counting stage is finished. It is a similar concept described in [75]. In figure 6.4, *Ibias1* and *Ibias2* are two different biasing currents for counting stage and extended counting stage, respectively. In figure 6.5, *St* is the clock controlling biasing current of OPAMP, and *Stc* is a complementary clock of *St*. The switching is performed in the first phase of 10th clock, when the OPAMP is not operating. Thus, additional clock cycle penalty is avoided to reconfigure the OPAMP.

Since G_m^2 is proportional with the drain current of OPAMP, and 8 clock cycles from counting stage can benefit from this technique, the total power reduction is about 40% for our design. If more bits resolution are required from counting stage, the reduction is even greater. Using the same conditions as above, and assume 10 bits resolution is provided from extended counting stage, the power consumed in one conversion with two different structures is plotted in Figure 6.14.

6.3 Implemented ASIC

6.3.1 Chip layout

The implemented ASIC is fabricated through AMI CMOS 0.5um process. The process employs 3 metal and 2 poly with high-resistance option. Figure 6.15 shows



Figure 6.14: Power reduction versus number of bits

Resolution	13bit
Power Supply	3.3V
Sample Freq.	512k Hz
Power Cons.	7mW
Input Range	2V
Core Area	0.7mm by 0.8mm

Table 6.1: Summary of designed ADC

a micro-photo of implemented ASIC. The ASIC was originally designed for a 32 channels neural recording system [76]. The ASIC consists 32 low-noise low-power neural recording front-end channels, and two 13 bit extended counting ADCs. Total system occupies occupies an area of 3mm by 3mm. The performance of the ADC is summarized in table 6.1.

Figure 6.16 displays the layout of CSA. The digital parts and the analog parts are carefully separated to avoid interference. The most sensitive analog part, the OPAMP, is laid out in the bottom, with its biasing routed at its top. The capacitor arrays, which consists multiple identical unit capacitor cells, are laid out in the middle. Common-centroid structure is used to improve matching. The switches are laid out at the top, with their digital control signals routed at its top. Thus, the



Figure 6.15: Micro-photo of implemented ASIC

digital signal lines are placed far from the analog signal lines. Besides, the routings of digital signals are shielded with a poly layer, which is connected to a fix voltage, to avoid interference on the substrate. Guard rings are also applied to protect the sensitive analog circuits.

6.3.2 Test setup

An interface board has been designed and fabricated to test the implemented ASIC. Figure 6.17 shows a photo shot of the designed interface board. The board provides connections with the same data acquisition card NI-PCI 6259 as described in chapter 5. On-board commercial DACs and regulators were also used to generate biasing and provide clean supply. Several level shifters were employed to transfer 5V DIOs from NI 6259 to 3.3V, as the NI 6259 only provides 5V DIO and the chip was designed under 3.3V. Chip is mounted on a zero-insert-force (ZIF) socket for easy accessibility. PC-based supervision of the whole system has been realized by means of custom MATLAB programs.

6.3.3 Measurement results

Figure 6.18 shows a measurement result of the designed ADC.

The measurement result doesn't meet design criteria for the following reasons. First, the maximum frequency of NI 6259 data acquisition card's DIOs is limited to around 100KHz, which is much less than the designed clock frequency 32MHz. This leads to offset to the common-mode feedback circuitry in OPAMP. Because of the nature of the switched capacitor common mode feedback circuitry, leakage current through open switches discharges the small capacitor that stores the common-mode voltage level. If the small capacitor is not frequently recharged, the common-mode voltage is drifted. In our design the capacitor in common-mode



Figure 6.16: Layout of ADC


Figure 6.17: Photo of the interface test board



Figure 6.18: Measured INL of designed ADC

feedback circuit is selected to be 100 fF for speed consideration. Assuming 1pA of leakage current, the common-mode voltage is drifted for 1.6mV in 16 cycles of 100KHz clock, which is over 13 LSBs under 13 bits resolution.

Second, the design assumed 10 bits resolution from the extended counting stage, which greatly relies on component matching. With careful layout consideration, the CMOS technology can achieve 8 - 10 bits matching between capacitors. In our design, the capacitor arrays are laid out with identical unit capacitors with common-centroid structure. However, parasitic capacitance originates from routing metals that pass through the capacitor are not considered [40]. Dummy capacitor cells are also not employed, therefore the middle capacitor in the common-centroid structure experiences offset with those in the outer layer. The lack of consideration in layout along with technology limits might affect the measurement result.

6.4 Conclusion

Extended counting analog-to-digital converter (ECADC) combines the accuracy of delta-sigma modulation and the speed of algorithmic conversion. This conversion architecture is shown to be useful in multi-channel sensory applications, where both resolution and speed are demanded. This chapter presents a design of a 13 bit ECADC for 32 neural recording channels. Several power optimizing methods are described. The designed converter achieves a resolution of 13 bits and a sampling frequency of 512kHz. With 3.3V supply, the total power consumption is estimated to be 7mW. The designed ADC is fabricated through AMI 0.5um CMOS process. Fabricated chip is characterized with custom designed test setup. Measurement result is provided and discussed. The proposed extended counting ADC structure displays its advantage in integrating with the front-end readout system described in the previous part.

Part IV

Conclusions

Chapter 7

Conclusions and Future Plans

7.1 Conclusions

Front-end readout system for a innovative semiconductor scintillator radiation detector is designed and implemented. The novel detector produces high energy radiation electron-hole pairs in a direct-gap semiconductor material that subsequently undergo interband recombination, producing infrared light to be registered by a photo-detector. To measure the optical response of pixelized detector, an application specific integrated circuit has to be integrated with the array of detectors.

The system includes a charge sensitive amplifier (CSA), a semi-Gaussian pulse shaping filter and a peak detector. CSA integrates the charge signal from photodetector into a small capacitor, thus converts charge signal into voltage signal. Semi-Gaussian pulse shaping filter conditions output signal from CSA, increases signal-to-noise ratio of the overall system. The pulse shaping filter converts output signal of CSA into a semi-Gaussian shape pulse with its amplitude proportional to input charge. Peak detector captures the peak amplitude of the output pulse from shaping filter. This work presents a design of a low-noise charge sensitive amplifier. Design challenges when facing large parasitic capacitance are discussed and analyzed. For optimization of the performance and increased sensitivity of readout circuitry, we have devised an optimization technique that incorporates accurate flicker noise model. Designed CSA achieves high sensitivity at low power consumption. In addition, a current-mode preamplifier designed based on trans-impedance amplifier is also presented. The current-mode preamplifier doesn't use feedback, thus it can be used in applications with fast event rate. However, its noise performance is worse than CSA.

Design of a large time constant semi-Gaussian pulse shaper is presented. Use of current mirror ICON cell alleviates the requirement of large RC, which take large silicon area to integrate on-chip. A two-phase peak detector is also designed and simulated. This work also presents a design of an adaptive front-end readout system. The proposed system provides ability to minimize noise with variability in the photodiode and readout electronics. The adaptive control block automatically adjusts read out threshold based on the output noise level, thus gives the system potential for further programmability.

The designed front-end readout system was implemented with AMI 0.5 μ m CMOS process through MOSIS. The fabricated chip was characterized with custom designed test interface board. Several experimental measurement results are presented.

For analog-to-digital conversion, which is the last component of the front-end readout system, this work presents a design of extended counting analog-to-digital converter (ECADC). The ADC was originally designed for a 32-channel low-noise low-power neural recording system. However, its ability to compromise among speed, power and resolution makes it a suitable candidate for multi-channel sensory application. Several design issues regarding power consumption and size are proposed. An interesting technique that reduces power consumption by about 40% is developed. The preliminary prototype of the ADC along with 32 neural recording channels are implemented using AMI 0.5 μ m CMOS technology. Its functionality has been tested, measurement results are reported and discussed.

In summary, a front-end readout system for novel semiconductor scintillator radiation detector is proposed and designed. The designed readout system is implemented with CMOS process. Fabricated ASICs are characterized and measurement results are reported.

7.2 Future plans

Since the proposed detector employs several innovative techniques, the characteristic of the detector needs to be fully studied. More experiment tests should be conducted to provide more general information of the scintillation detector. Noise parameters can also be extracted from these experiments to optimize noise performance in design of integrated read out system.

A significant improvement in the detector side is that it is possible to further reduce the parasitic capacitance into 0.5 pf by reducing the pixel size to 0.1mm x 0.1mm. In the theoretical analysis, we are using approximation that the noise will be dominated by the detector noise and the input MOS transistor noise. While, the detector noise is independent of the detector capacitor, noise contribution of input MOS transistor is scaled by the detector capacitance. By reducing the size of the pixel, the leakage current and detector capacitance will be scaled directly with the area. This will reduce both terms in the equivalent noise charge, and theoretical limit for 50 pF input capacitance ($1mm \ge 1mm$ pixel) can be reduced from 1000 electrons to 20 electrons in the case of 0.5 pF detector capacitance($0.1mm \ge 0.1mm$ pixel). The pixelation of the detector would therefore lead to significantly lower

detectable charge.

In the same time, further experiment test of fabricated integrated read out system needs to be conducted. Based on the test results, design should be iteratively revised until it meets both accuracy and speed requirements. Actual noise measurement results of a single transistor from the targeted need to obtained, so that CSA can be optimized with a more accurate noise model. The current test interface board has problems when testing detector with readout ASIC together. Better solution of connecting detector with readout system needs to be investigated. ASIC implementation of the proposed adaptive filtering system is needed to prove effectiveness of the concept. Effort is also required to integrate ADC with multiple channels of analog section of readout system on the same die.

The extended counting ADC needs to be re-optimized for better measured resolution result. Layout techniques to reduce mismatches need to be employed as much as possible. Switch capacitor configurations which help to reduce offset effect of OPAMP also required to be implemented. A better test structure should be designed to incorporate high frequency clock.

Bibliography

- G.F. Knoll, "Radiation Detection and Measurement", 3rd edition, John Wiley and Sons, Inc, 2000.
- [2] H. Spieler, "Semiconductor Detector Systems", Oxford University Press, 2005.
- [3] G. Lutz, "Semiconductor Radiation Detectors", Spring-Verlag, 1999.
- [4] G. Cauwenberghs and M. Bayoumi, "Learning on Silicon–Adaptive VLSI Neural Systems", Norwell MA: Kluwer Academic, 1999.
- [5] A. Kastalsky, S. Luryi, B. Spivak, "Semiconductor high-energy radiation scintillation detector", Nuclear Instrument and Method in Physics Res A, 2006.
- [6] F. Zhang, Z. He, G.F. Knoll, D.K. Wehe, J.E. Berry, "3-D Position Sensitive CdZnTe Spectrometer Performance Using Third Generation VAS/TAT Readout Electronics", IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci. 52, pp.2009-2016, 2005.
- [7] J.D. Kurfess, W.N. Johnson, R.A. Kroeger, B.F. Phlips, "Considerations for the next Compton Telescope Mission", Proc. 5th Compton Symposium, Portsmouth, NH, 1999.
- [8] S.E. Boggs and P. Jean, "Even reconstruction in high resolution Compton telescopes", Astron. Astrophys. Suppl. Ser. 145, pp. 311-321, 2000.
- [9] E. Aprile, A. Bolotnikov, D. Chen, R. Mukherjee, "A Monte Carlo analysis of the liquid xenon TPC as gamma-ray telescope", Nuclear Instrument and Method, A 327, pp. 216-221, 1993.
- [10] Erik H.M. Heijne and Pirre Jarron, "A low noise CMOS integrated signal processor for multi-element particle detectors," Digest of apers ESSCIRC, pp. 68-69, 1988.

- [11] W. Buttler and B.J. Hosticka, "Low noise low power CMOS readout systems for silicon strip detector," Digest of Papers ESSCIRC, pp. 171-174, 1988.
- [12] G. Lutz et al., "Low noise monolithis CMOS front end electronics," Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research, A263, pp.163-173, 1988.
- [13] Willy M.C. Sansen, Zhong Yuan Chang, "Limits of Low Noise Performance of Detector Readout Front Ends in CMOS Technology", IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems, vol. 37,No. 11, November 1990.
- [14] G. De Geronimo, J. Fried, P. O'Connor, V. Radeka, G.C. Smith, C. Thorn, and B. Yu, "Frontend ASIC for a GEM base time projection chamber", IEEE Transaction Nuclear Science, Vol. 51, pp. 1312-1317, 2004.
- [15] G. De Geronimo, G. Carini, W.S. Murray, and P. O'Connor, "Front-end ASIC for Coplanar Grid Sensor", Proc. IEEE 2004 RTSD.
- [16] G. De Geronimo and P. O'Connor, "A CMOS detector leakage current self-adaptable continuous reset system: Theoretical analysis", Nuclear Instrments and Methods, A421, pp.322-333, 1999.
- [17] G. De Geronimo and P. O'Connor, "A CMOS fully compensated continuous reset system", IEEE Transaction Nuclear Science, vol. 47, pp. 358-1462, 2000.
- [18] Phillip E. Allen and Douglas R. Holberg, "CMOS Analog Circuit Design, second edition", Oxford university press, 2002.
- [19] Behzad Razavi, "Design of Analog CMOS Integrated Circuits", McGraw-Hill, 2000
- [20] Gianluigi De Geronimo, Jack Fried, Elliot Frost, Bernard F. Phlips, Emerson Vernon, and Eric A. Wulf, "Front-End ASIC for a Silicon Compton Telescope," IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol.55, No.4, August 2008.
- [21] M. Valenza et al., "Overview of the impact of downscaling technology on 1/f noise in p-MOSFETs to 90 nm," Proc. Inst. Elect. Eng., Circuits Devices Syst., vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 102C110, Apr. 2004.
- [22] G. Bertuccio and S. Caccia, "Noise minimization of MOSFET input charge amplifiers based on $\delta\mu$ and δ N 1/f models," IEEE Trans. on Nuclear Science, Vol.56, No.3, June 2009.

- [23] R.R. Harrison and C. Charles, "A Low-Power Low-Noise CMOS Amplifier for Neural Recording Applications," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, Vol.38, No.6, June 2003.
- [24] J. Wulleman, "Current mode charge pulse amplifier in CMOS technology for use with particle detectors," Electronics Letters, vol. 32, no. 6, pp. 515-516, 1996.
- [25] F. Yuan, "Low-voltage CMOS current mode preamplifier: analysis and design," IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems I: Regular Papers, vol. 53, no.1, pp. 26-39, 2006.
- [26] F. Anghinolfi, P. Aspell, M. Campbell, et al., "ICON, a current mode preamplifier in CMOS technology for use with high rate particle detectors," IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. 40, no.3, pp. 271-274, 1993.
- [27] F. Anghinolfi, P. Jarron, F. Krummenacher, E. Usenko, and M.C.S. Williams, "NINO: An Ultrafast Low-Power Front-End Amplifier Discriminator for the Time-of-Flight Detector in the ALICE Experiment", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol. 51, no.5, October 2004.
- [28] Thomas Noulis, Constantinos Deradonis, and Stylianos Skskos, "Advanced Readout System IC Current Mode Semi-Gaussian Shapers Using CCIIs and OTAs", Hidawi Publishing Corporation, VLSI Design, Vol 2007, Article ID 71684.
- [29] C.W. Kuo, C.C. Hsiao, S.C. Yang, and Y.J. Chan, "2 Gbit/s transimpedance amplifier fabricated by 0.35um CMOS technologies," Electronics letters, Vol.37, no.19, pp. 1158-1160, 2001.
- [30] S.S. Mohan, M.D.M. Hershenson, S.P. Boyd, and T.H. Lee, "Bandwidth extension in CMOS with optimized on-chip inductors," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, vol.35, pp. 346-355, Mar. 2000
- [31] T. Yoon and B. Jalali, "1 Gbit/s fiber channel CMOS transimpedance amplifier," Electronics Letters, Vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 588-589, 1997.
- [32] M. Ingels and M.S.J. Steyaert, "A 1-Gb/s, 0.7 um CMOS optical receiver with full rail-to-rail output swing," IEEE J. Solid-Stage Circuits, vol. 34, pp.971-977, July 1999.
- [33] H. Zimmermann, T. Heide, and A. Ghazi, "Monolithic high-speed CMOS photoreceiver," IEEE Photon. Technology Letters, vol. 11, pp. 254-256, Feb. 1999.

- [34] C.L. Schow, J.D. Schaub, R. Li, J. Qi, and J.C. Campbell, "A 1-Gb/s monolithically integrated silicon NMOS optical receiver," IEEE J. Select Topics Quantum Electron., Vol. 4, pp. 1035-1039, Nov./Dec. 1998.
- [35] T.K. Woodward and A.V. Krishnamoorthy, "1 Gbit/s CMOS photoreceiver with integrated detector operating at 850 nm," Electronics Letters, vol. 34, no. 12, pp. 1252-1253. 1998.
- [36] C. Toumazou and S.M. Park, "Wideband low noise CMOS transimpedance amplifier for gigahertz operation," Electronics Letters, ol. 32, no.13, pp. 1194-1196, 1996.
- [37] S.M. Park and C. Toumazou, "A packaged low-noise high-speed reulated cascade transimpedance amplifier using 0.6um N-well CMOS technology," in Proc. Eur. Solid-State Circuit Conf. (ESSCIRC), pp. 432-435, 2000.
- [38] Sung Min Park and Hoi-Jun Yoo, "1.25-Gb/s Regulated Cascode CMOS Transimpedance Amplifier for Gigabit Ethernet Applications", IEEE J. of Solid-State Circuits, Vol. 39, No.1, January 2004.
- [39] Behzad Razavi, "Design of Integrated Circuits for Optical Communications", McGraw Hill press, 2003.
- [40] Alan Hastings, "The Art of Analog Layout, Second Edition", Pearson Eduction press, 2006.
- [41] Kleinfelder, S.; Yandong Chen; Kwiatkowski, K.; Shah, A.; "High-speed CMOS image sensor circuits with in situ frame storage", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol. 51, Issue 4, Part1, pp:1648-1656, Aug. 2004.
- [42] F.S. Goulding and D.A. Landis, "Signal processing for semiconductor detectors," IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, vol. NS-29, pp.1125-1141, June 1982.
- [43] F.S. Goulding, "Pulse-shaping in low noise nuclear amplifier: A physical approach to noise analysis," Nuclear Instrments and Methods, 100, pp. 493-504, 1972.
- [44] V. Radeka, "Low noise techniques in detectors", Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci., vol. 38, pp. 217-277, 1988.
- [45] G. De Geronimo, P. O'Connor, "MOSFET optimization in deep submicron technology for charge amplifiers", IEEE Trans. Nucl. Scie., Vol. 52, pp. 3223-3232, 2005.
- [46] V. Radeka, "Optimum signal-processing for pulse-amplitude spectrometry in the presence of high-rate effects and noise", IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci., vol. 15, pp. 455-470, 1968.

- [47] W. Buttler, B.J. Hosticka and G. Lutz, "Noise filtering for readout electronics", Nucl. Instrum. Methods, A288, pp. 187-190, 1990.
- [48] Stefano Caccia, Giuseppe Bertuccio, Diego Maiocchi, Piero Mclcovati, Nicoletta Ratti, and Didier Martin, "A Mixed-Signal Spectroscopic-Grade and High-Functionality CMOS Readout Cell for Semiconductor X-γ Ray Pixel Detector," IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol.5, No.5, October 2008.
- [49] R.L. Chase, A. Hrisoho, and J.-P. Richer, "8-channel CMOS preamplifier and shaper with adjustable peaking time and automatic pole-zero cancellation," Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research A, 409 (1998) 328-331.
- [50] G. Bertuccio, P. Gallina, and M. Sampietro, "R-lens filter': An (RC)ⁿ current-mode lowpass filter," Electronics Letters, Vol.35, No.15, July 1999.
- [51] C.Fiorini, and M. Porro, "Integrated RC Cell for Time-Invariant Shaping Amplifiers," IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol.51, No.5, October 2004.
- [52] X. Yun, and M.Stanaćević, "An Adaptive Front-end Readout System for Radiation Detection" in Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits and Systems (ISCAS'2009), Taipei, Taiwan, May, 2009.
- [53] G. Cauwenberghs, "A Fast Stochastic Error-Descent Algorithm for Supervised Learning and Optimization," Adv. Neural Information Processing Systems (NIPS *92), San Mateo, CA: Morgan Kaufman, Vol.5, pp. 244-251, 1993
- [54] T.-H. Lee and G. Cho, "A Monte Carlo based time-domain Hspice noise simulation for CSA-CR RC circuit," Nuclear Instruments and Methods in Physics Research A (505), pp. 328-333, 2003.
- [55] M.W. Kruiskamp, D.M.W. Leenaerts, "A CMOS peak detect sample and hold circuit", IEEE Trans. Nucl. Sci. Vol. 41, pp. 25-298, 1994.
- [56] G. De Geronimo, P. O'Connor, and A. Kandasamy, "Analog CMOS peak detect and hold circuits - Part1. analysis of the classical configuration", Nucl. Instrm. and Meth., A484 pp. 533-543, 2002.
- [57] G. De Geronimo, P. O'Connor, and A. Kandasamy, "Analog CMOS peak detect and hold circuits - Part2. The two-phase offset-free and deranomizing configuration", Nucl. Instrm. and Meth., A484 pp. 544-556, 2002.

- [58] M.N. Ericson, M.L. Simpson, and C.L. Britton, "A Low-Power, CMOS Peak Detect and Hold Circuit for Nuclear Pulse Spectroscopy", IEEE Transactions on Nuclear Science, Vol. 42, No. 4, August 1995.
- [59] X. Yun, D.Kim, M.Stanaćević and Z. Mainen, "Low-Power High-Resolution 32-channel Neural Recording systme" in Proc. Int. Conf. of the IEEE Eng. in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), Lyon, France, Aug. 2007.
- [60] P. Rombouts, W. Wilde, and L. Weyten, "A 13.5-b 1.2-V Micropower Extended Counting A/D Converter," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, Vol. 36, No. 2, Feb. 2001.
- [61] K. Nagaraj, "Efficient circuit configurations for algorithmic analog to digital converters," IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. 11, Vol. 40, pp. 777-785, Dec. 1993.
- [62] B.Ginetti, P.Jespers, A. Vandemeulebroecke, "A CMOS 1-b cyclic A/D convertor," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, Vol. 27, pp. 957-964, Jul. 1992.
- [63] C. Jansson, "A high-resolution, compact, and low-power ADC suitable for array implementation in standard CMOS," IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. *I*, Vol. 42, pp. 904-912, Nov. 1995.
- [64] R. Harjani and T.A. Lee, "FRC: a method for extending the resolution of Nyquist rate converters using oversampling," IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. *II*, Vol. 45, pp. 482-494, Apr. 1998.
- [65] J. Maeyer, P. Rombouts, and L. Weyten, "A Double-Sampling Extended-Counting ADC," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, Vol. 39, No. 3, Mar. 2004.
- [66] G. Mulliken, F.Adil, G.Cauwenberghs and R. Genov, "Delta-sigma algorithmic analog-todigital conversion," in Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits and Systems (ISCAS), Phoenix, AZ, May 2002, pp.687-690.
- [67] Iyad Obeid, Patrick D. Wolf, "Evaluation of Spike-Detection Algorithms for a Brain-Machine Interface Application", IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering, Vol.51, No.6, June 2004.
- [68] Donghwi Kim, Milutin Stanacevic, Ridha Kamoua and Zachary Mainen "An Ultra-Low-Power Low-Data-Rate Neural Recording System with Adaptive Spike Detection", Proc. Int. Conf. of the 51th Midwest Symoposium on Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS 2008), Tennessee, USA, Aug. 2008.

- [69] Reid R. Harrison, "A Low-Power Integrated Circuit for Adaptive Detection of Action Potentials in Noise Signals", Proceedings of the 25th Annual International Conference of the IEEE EMBS, Cancun, Mexico, September 17-21, 2003.
- [70] P.T.Watkins, G.Santhanam, K.V.Shenoy, R.R.Harrison, "Validation of Adaptive Threshold Spike Detector for Neural Recording", Proceedings of the 26th Annual International Conference of the IEEE EMBS, San Francisco, CA, USA, September 1-5, 2004.
- [71] Charles M. Higgins, Vivek Pant, and Rainer Deutschmann, "Analog VLSI Implementation of Spatio-Temporal Frequency Tuned Visual Motion Algorithms", IEEE Transactions on Circuit and Systems, Vol.52, No.3, March 2005.
- [72] www.mosis.com
- [73] Klaas Bult, and Govert J. G. M. Geelen, "A Fast-Settling CMOS Op Amp for SC Circuits with 90-dB DC Gain", IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits, Vol.25, No.6, December 1990.
- [74] L. Sumanen, M. Waltari, K. Halonen, "A 10-bit 200-MS/s CMOS Parallel Pipeline," IEEE J. Solid-State Circuits, Vol. 36, No. 7, Jul. 2001.
- [75] B. Wang, T. V. Kalthoff and M. Wu, "Delta sigma analog-to-digital converter having programmable resolution/bias current circuitry and method," U.S. Patent 5 691 720, Nov. 25, 1997
- [76] X. Yun, and M.Stanaćević, "Extended Counting ADC for 32-channel Neural Recording Headstage for Small Animals" in Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. Circuits and Systems (IS-CAS'2009), Seattle, USA, May, 2008.